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Chief Executive Officer’s statement  

I am pleased to present the 2019 Annual Report for Landore Resources Limited (“Landore Resources” 
or the “Group”). 
 
During 2019, all of Landore Resources’ exploration efforts were focused on the Junior Lake property, 
drilling to increase the BAM Gold resource to 1,015,000 ounces of gold (reported by the Company on 
7th January 2020), as well as completing an extensive exploration campaign westwards along strike for 
approximately 7 kilometres from the existing BAM Gold Project successfully establishing the presence 
of widespread anomalous gold and indicating multiple gold trends.  
  
Board changes 
We welcomed Glenn Featherby onto the board as a non-executive Director on 17 January 2020. Glenn 
has over 35 years’ experience in corporate advisory work and has an extensive background in the 
resources sector. 
 
On 7 February 2020, Richard Prickett resigned as a Director due to personal and family commitments. 
As a result, Glenn took over the role of Finance Director. 
 
On behalf of my fellow Directors, Management, Staff and Associates I would like to extend our sincere 
thanks and appreciation to Richard for his years of service to the Company as our Finance Director. 
His guidance and contribution has been invaluable to the development of the Company. 
 
Financial Results 
In the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group incurred a loss, after tax, of £2,145,920 (2018: 
£2,783,480).  
 
Operating expenses were in line with our budgets and expectations, financing details are set out below. 

In May 2019, the Group raised £1 million by the issuance of shares at a price of 0.7p per share. 

In July 2019, the Group raised £250,000 by the issuance of shares at a price of 0.7p per share. 

In September 2019, the Group raised a further £470,000 by the issuance of shares at a price of 0.725p 
per share, fully funding its operational expenses for 2019. 

Post-year end events 

In January 2020, the Group raised a further £225,000 by the issuance of shares at a price of 0.7p per 
share. 

In April 2020, the Group raised a further £260,000 by the issuance of shares at a price of 0.675p per 
share.  

In July 2020, the Group raised a further £2.8 million by the issuance of shares at a price of 0.675p per 
share. The fundraising received good support from new and existing investors together with an eminent 
gold investor, Mr Eric Sprott who has taken a 9.72% stake in the Company. This will allow the 
continued development of the identified BAM Gold Resource and the completion of a further 
exploration programme along strike to other known gold prospects. 
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement continued 
The Group has no debt and will continue to raise further equity as needed to carry out its development 
plans. Shareholders have been very supportive of the Group’s financing needs and the Directors are 
confident of raising further funds as required. 

The Junior Lake Property: 

The Junior Lake property, 100 per cent. owned by Landore, is located in the province of Ontario, 
Canada, approximately 235 kilometres north-northeast of Thunder Bay and is host to the BAM Gold 
Deposit, the B4-7 Nickel-Copper-Cobalt-PGEs Deposit and numerous other highly prospective 
mineral occurrences. 

The Junior Lake property together with the adjacent 90.2 per cent owned Lamaune Lake property 
extends for 31 kilometres across a highly prospective archean greenstone belt and covers an area of 
30,507 hectares. 

BAM Gold Deposit: The 2019 summer drilling campaign of 3,966 metres of diamond core was 
concentrated on upgrading Inferred mineral resources to an Indicated status, the results of which were 
subsequently used to complete a revised Mineral Resource Estimate with Technical Report, reported 
by Landore on 7th January and 9th April 2020 respectively. Drilling also confirmed gold 
mineralisation extensions for 400 metres to the west of the defined deposit. 

Highlights of the Drilling and Resource Update include. 

• The new Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE) modelling has increased the BAM Gold 
resource to: 31,083,000 tonnes (t) at 1.02 grams/tonne (g/t) for 1,015,000 ounces of gold 
including 21,930,000t at 1.06g/t for 747,000 ounces of gold in the Indicated Category. 

• The BAM Gold Deposit now extends for 3,700 metres from 400E to 4100E and remains 
open down dip and along strike to the east and the west. In addition, the recently 
completed soil sampling program has identified widespread gold mineralisation along 
strike to the west for a further 7 kilometres. 

The Company’s continued progress with the BAM Gold Deposit, together with the possible future 
development of the other known gold prospects along this highly prospective 31 kilometre archean 
greenstone belt, supports the Directors belief that the Junior Lake Property may host a multi-million 
ounce gold deposit. 

Due to the substantial increase in the gold price since the February 2019 Preliminary Economic 
Assessment (PEA) was published, the financial model, which used US$1,300/ounce, was re-evaluated 
in January 2020. Using the then prevailing price of US$1,560/ounce, the new price sensitivity analysis 
of the ‘Extended case’ increased the ‘Post Tax, Net Present value (NPV) from US$123.71m. to 
US$227.37m. 

Further details are set out in the Operations Report. 

Planned works for 2020: The recent fundraising will allow the Group to complete 3,400 metres of 
exploration drilling to follow up on identified gold targets, 7,600 metres of resource infill and 
extension drilling, 3,000 metres of depth drilling and infill soil sampling from Felix Lake to the BAM 
Gold Project to include ground geophysics and soil sampling. 
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement continued 
The fundraising puts the Group in a position to progress towards establishing a multi–million ounce 
gold resource, whilst continuing to explore corporate transactions with a view to maximising 
shareholder value. 

Social and Environmental Responsibility: The Group continues to enjoy solid working relationships 
with the local First Nations on whose traditional lands our Junior Lake Property is located. Landore 
believes that a successful project is best achieved through maintaining close working relationships with 
First Nations and other local communities.  

On behalf of my fellow Directors I wish to thank our shareholders for their continued support together 
with Landore’s Management and Exploration team for their dedication and perseverance in advancing 
the highly prospective Junior Lake Property.   

William Humphries 

Chief Executive Officer  

23 July 2020 
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Operations report 
INTRODUCTION: 

Landore Resources Limited, through its 100 per cent owned subsidiary Landore Resources Canada Inc. 
(“Landore”), is actively engaged in mineral exploration in Eastern Canada. Landore owns or has the 
mineral rights to four properties in Eastern Canada including its highly prospective Junior Lake 
property together with a 30 per cent interest in the West Graham property located in the Sudbury 
Nickel Belt. 
 
Landore through its 100 per cent owned subsidiary Brancote US, owns or has the mineral rights to a 
further eight properties for 99 claims in the State of Nevada. 
 
During 2019, all of Landore Resources’ exploration efforts were focussed on the Junior Lake property. 
The Company undertook a drilling campaign which increased the BAM Gold resource to 1,015,000 
ounces of gold (reported by the Company on 7 January 2020). Landore also carried out an extensive 
exploration campaign westwards along strike for approximately 7 kilometres from the existing BAM 
Gold Project, which successfully established the presence of widespread anomalous gold and 
indicating multiple gold trends.  
 
Full details of the Group’s projects, including maps, Canadian National Instrument 43-101 (NI 43-101) 
resource reports, geophysical and soil geochemistry surveys etc. can be viewed on the Group’s website, 
www.landore.com.  
 

JUNIOR LAKE PROPERTY: 
The Junior Lake property, 100 per cent. owned by Landore, is located in the province of Ontario, 
Canada, approximately 235 kilometres north-northeast of Thunder Bay and is host to the BAM Gold 
Deposit, the B4-7 Nickel-Copper-Cobalt-PGEs Deposit and the adjacent Alpha PGEs zone. Junior 
Lake also contains the VW Nickel Deposit and numerous other highly prospective mineral 
occurrences.  
 
The Junior Lake property is comprised of the Junior Lake claim group and the immediately adjacent 
claim group of Lamaune Iron Inc. (Lamaune Iron).  In October 2017, Landore acquired a 90.2 per cent 
ownership of Lamaune Iron, which has become a subsidiary company of Landore. 
 
Subsequent to this acquisition, in late 2019 Ontario’s Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and 
Mines granted the Company Mining Leases 109856 and 109857 encompassing all of Lamaune Iron 
Inc.’s exploration claims over an area totalling approximately 4,133 hectares, for a 21 year term 
renewable for further terms of 21 years. 
 
Landore’s Junior Lake property including the Lamaune claim group now consist of 1,158 staked 
mineral claims and six mining leases, all together totaling approximately 30,507 ha.  
 
The Junior Lake property extends for 31 kilometres across highly prospective archean greenstone belt. 
 
BAM GOLD DEPOSIT: 
The BAM Gold Deposit (formerly BAM East Gold Deposit) is located approximately 2 kilometres to 
the east of the B4-7 Deposit and 1 kilometre north of the VW Deposit and is situated midway along an 
east-southeast to west-northwest trending MaxMin geophysical anomaly (MM-7).  MM-7 had not been 
drill tested prior to the discovery of the BAM Gold Deposit. 
 
The BAM Gold Deposit was discovered in December 2015 while drilling to test the geophysical target, 
MaxMin anomaly MM-7. The drilling intersected a wide zone of gold mineralisation close to surface.  
 

http://www.landore.com/
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Operations report continued 
 
Mineralisation consisted of low grade gold with periodic intervals of higher grade gold.  Follow up 
drilling in February/March 2016 validated the initial discovery and established the maiden resource 
(reported in Landore’s press release dated 17 February 2017). Subsequent drilling has grown the 
resource considerably, now extending over 3.5 kilometres from local grid line 400E to 4100E 
remaining open to the east and west and down dip. In addition, the soil sampling campaign completed 
as part of the 2019 exploration programme has identified widespread gold mineralisation along strike 
to the west for a further 7 kilometres. 
 
The BAM Gold Deposit is interpreted as an archean-aged mesothermal gold deposit.  Findings from 
drilling to-date on the BAM Gold Deposit have revealed a lithological sequence consisting of 
leucogabbro and gabbro of the Grassy Pond Sill to the south, metasedimentary rocks of the BAM 
Sequence in the central portion, to mafic volcanics to the north. All lithological units have been 
subjected to variable shearing and deformation, markedly the metasedimentary unit.  
 
The deposit consists of gold mineralisation that is hosted by sheared and altered rocks of the Grassy 
Pond Sill and the BAM Sequence.  The gold mineralisation is commonly observed in drill core to exist 
as visible gold that is hosted by very thin, foliation-parallel quartz-rich veinlets, hosted by highly fissile 
ultramafic sediments of the BAM Sequence, or by foliated rocks of the Grassy Pond Sill. 
 
This significant new discovery has the potential for the initial development to be progressed as a low 
cost, bulk tonnage, open pit operation. 
 
Summer Drill Campaign: In June 2019 Landore re-commenced drilling focussed in part to bring 
Inferred portions of the BAM Gold Deposit to Indicated status for inclusion into an updated Mineral 
Resource Estimate, together with exploration drilling along a potential 500+ metre extension of the 
BAM Gold Deposit along strike to the west from 900E to 400E. This drilling was used in the 
preparation of an updated Mineral Resource Estimate (reported in Landore’s press release dated 7 
January 2020). 
 

The 2019 drill campaign, completed by late August 2019, consisted of 3,966 metres for 38 HQ 
diamond drill holes (0419-687 to 0419-724). Drilling successfully intersected gold mineralisation of 
similar widths and grade to the existing BAM Gold Deposit with multiple instances of visible gold 
(“VG”). Intersections included drill hole 0419-701 reporting 17.78 metres at 1.08 grams/tonne gold 
(g/t) and drill-hole 0419-704 reporting 0.98 metres at 22.90g/t. 
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Operations report continued 
 
Results received in the 2019 drilling campaign included:  

 

Easting Northing Drill-hole From Interval* Au 
  No Metres Metres g/t 

400E 575N 0419-700 64.39 1.96 3.54 
800E 450N 0419-694 143.88 1.00 7.81 
1250E 300N 0419-701 169.62 17.78 1.08 
1300E 345N 0419-702 96.25 6.65 2.76 

  1ncluding 97.20 1.00 10.15 
1350E 375N 0419-703 47.00 10.00 1.14 

  Including 47.00 1.28 5.90 
1350E 300N 0419-704 104.75 0.98 22.90 

  and 126.04 11.32 1.22 
  and 158.34 0.30 9.57 

1400E 350N 0419-706 56.00 8.37 2.19 
1400E 270N 0419-707 143.00 4.00 1.11 
1450E 225N 0419-709 194.02 0.89 11.80 
1050E 350N 0419-718 29.50 1.00 7.89 

  and 173.50 14.00 1.10 
1150E 375N 0419-715 109.94 13.06 1.72 
1150E 325N 0419-716 170.40 10.89 2.22 
1550E 325N 0419-719 16.17 1.70 6.23 

  and 88.93 0.79 11.75 
1600E 295N 0419-713 109.13 12.87 3.23 

  including 117.00 1.00 28.60 
2200E 210N 0419-722 21.53 7.57 1.56 
2400 E 127N 0419-723 58.30 15.70 1.09 
2450E 75N 0419-724 89.32 20.39 1.20 

 

* The above drill holes were drilled north at 45 degrees into a lithological package dipping 
approximately 85-75 degrees to the south. The actual true thickness of mineralisation is estimated to 
represent between 65-75% of the intervals shown in the above table. 

The 2019 drilling successfully upgraded previous Inferred mineral resources to Indicated status, as well 
as confirmed gold mineralisation extensions to the west of the defined deposit. The BAM Gold Deposit 
remains open to the east and west as well as down dip. 

2019 Ground Exploration: Geological review by Landore had identified favorable geological 
lithology and structure having the potential to continue along the full 31 kilometre east-west extent of 
the archean greenstone belt traversing the Junior Lake Property, the majority of which to-date is 
unexplored. 

Accordingly, in 2019 ground exploration activities including ground geophysics, geological survey and 
soil sampling investigated this regional prospectivity in an area between the BAM Gold Deposit and 
the Lamaune Gold Exploration Target located approximately 8.5 kilometres to the west of BAM. A 
north-west/south-east bearing grid (Felix Grid) 5,000 metres long by 1,200 metres wide with cross 
lines cut at approximately 200 metre spacing was established, upon which the programmed exploration 
was carried out over approximately 32 line kilometres within the grid. 
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Operations report continued 
 
Results from the Electromagnetic (HLEM-MaxMin) VLF and Magnetometric ground geophysics 
survey are highly promising showing potential continuation of the main conductors encountered in the 
BAM Gold Deposit area. Prospecting of the Felix Grid revealed similar lithologies encountered within 
the BAM Gold Deposit area itself. Soil sampling was completed at 25 metre intervals over the entire 
Felix Grid, as well as line 4100E. The results identified numerous gold anomalies and trends, which 
together with the encouraging geology and geophysics results have generated numerous new drill 
targets with the potential of being advanced into additional resources. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Soil gold anomalies showing regional growth potential  

RESOURCE ESTIMATE:  

Landore retained consulting engineers Cube Consulting Pty Ltd (“Cube”) of Perth, Western Australia, 
to use the results of the 2019 drilling programme for the completion of a revised Mineral Resource 
Estimate with a Technical Report on the BAM Gold Deposit, all compliant with the requirements of 
National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (NI 43-101). 

A data compilation from drilling completed on the project was delivered to Cube during Q4 2019. The 
revised Resource Estimate, classified in accordance to NI 43-101 standards, was reported by Landore 
7th January 2020. The completion of the Technical Report was subsequently reported by Landore on 9th 
April 2020. 

The new Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE) modelling has increased the BAM Gold resource to: 
31,083,000 tonnes (t) at 1.02 grams/tonne (g/t) for 1,015,000 ounces of gold including 21,930,000t at 
1.06g/t for 747,000 ounces gold in the Indicated Category.  
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Operations report continued 

Table 0-1 BAM Gold Project In-Situ Mineral Resources In-situ Mineral Resource – All Indicated 
and Inferred Resources (as at 30 December 2019) 

Resource 
Category 

Material 
Type 

Au g/t 
cut off 

Tonnes 
(kT) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Contained 
Metal       

(Oz Au) 
Measured ALL >0.3 0 0 0 

Indicated ALL >0.3 21,930 1.06 747,000 

Inferred ALL >0.3 9,153 0.91 268,000 
 

Notes: 
 1 Effective date of 30 December 2019. 

2 Mineral Resources are estimated at a block cut-off grade of 0.3 g/t Au. 
3 Mineral Resources are estimated using a long-term gold price of US$1,500 per ounce. 
4 A minimum mining width of two metres was used. 
5 Bulk densities for the main host rocks are 2.82 t/m3, 2.84 t/m3, and 2.90 t/m3. 
6 Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. 

7 Figures may not add up due to rounding 
 

As the BAM Gold Deposit is located along a highly prospective archean greenstone belt which 
traverses the Junior Lake Property from east to west for approximately 31 kilometres, there is great 
potential for further significant gold mineralisation. This favourable greenstone belt ranges from 0.5 to 
1.5 kilometres wide and hosts multiple known gold occurrences, including the Lamaune Gold Prospect. 
 
It is Landore’s opinion that the Junior Lake property has definite potential to host a multi-million 
ounce gold deposit. 
 
Preliminary Economic Assessment: 
This assessment, completed in February 2019 by Cube Consulting Pty Ltd. to NI 43-101 standards, 
combined data including drilling, metallurgical and geotechnical assessments to determine the 
preliminary economic viability of the BAM Gold Deposit. Results are positive, indicating that the 
BAM Gold Deposit has the capacity to be progressed to the production stage. 
 
In light of the rapidly changing gold market, the ‘Extended Case’ price sensitivity analysis from the 
February 2019 BAM Gold project Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) was re-examined at a gold 
price of US$1,560. 
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Operations report continued 
 

Project Financials (Ungeared): real unless 
stated 

  
Base 

 
 Extended 

Gold Price (Average LOM) USD/oz 1,500 1,500 
Net Gold Revenue (Ex Site) USD M 731.03 1,136.20 
Initial Capex USD M 93.81 93.81 
Sustaining Capex and Mine Development costs USD M 1.27 1.97 
All-in-Sustaining-Cost (AISC) USD / oz 806 816 
Project NPV (Pre-Tax) USD M 180.82 296.98 
Project NPV (Post Tax) USD M 124.85 203.44 
Project IRR (Pre-Tax) % 43.9% 47.7% 
Project IRR (Post Tax) % 35.4% 39.1% 
Project Payback Period  Years 3.50 3.50 
Project Break-Even Gold Price USD / oz 1,060 997 

 

The Preliminary Economic Assessment has demonstrated the economic viability of this project as well 
as its high growth potential, and has reinforced Landore’s opinion that the BAM Gold Project can be 
developed as a low-cost open pit mining operation. 
 
2020 Planned Works: 
The recent fundraising will allow the Group to complete 3,400 metres of exploration drilling to follow 
up on identified gold targets, 7,600 metres of resource infill and extension drilling, 3,000 metres of 
depth drilling and infill soil sampling from Felix Lake to the BAM Gold Project to include ground 
geophysics and soil sampling. 
 
B4-7 NICKEL-COPPER-COBALT-PGEs DEPOSIT: 
No material work has been completed on the B4-7 since the discovery of the BAM Gold Deposit in 
December 2015 as the Company has focussed on the rapid progression of the gold project. 
 
The B4-7 resource estimate and report, completed by RPA Inc. (RPA) independent engineers of 
Toronto, Canada in January 2018, is compliant with the requirements of NI 43-101. The resource, so 
far delineated over 900 metres of strike and a depth of 550 metres, remains open down plunge at depth 
and along strike to the west.  
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Operations report continued 
 

Table 1-2    Mineral Resources for the B4-7 Nickel-Copper-Cobalt-PGE Deposit and Alpha 
Zone – December 1, 2017 

Landore Resources Canada Inc. – Junior Lake Project 

          
  Deposit Tonnes Ni 

(%) 
Cu 
(%) 

Co 
(%) 

Pt 
(g/t) 

Pd 
(g/t) 

Au 
(g/t) 

NiEq 
(%) 

Open Pit          
Indicated Alpha 132,000 0.23 0.09 0.02 0.18 0.99 0.01 0.63 

 B4-7 1,640,000 0.62 0.41 0.05 0.14 0.55 0.03 1.20 
Inferred  - - - - - - - - 

          
Underground          
Indicated B4-7 1,520,000 0.65 0.45 0.06 0.12 0.48 0.03 1.25 
Inferred B4-7 568,000 0.61 0.52 0.05 0.08 0.50 0.03 1.26 

          
Total          
Indicated  3,292,000 0.62 0.42 0.05 0.13 0.53 0.03 1.20 
Inferred  568,000 0.61 0.52 0.05 0.08 0.5 0.03 1.26 

 
Notes: 

1. CIM (2014) definitions were followed for Mineral Resource estimation and classification. 
2. Mineral Resources are estimated using average long-term metal prices (US$) of $8.00/lb nickel, $3.50/lb copper, 

$19.00/lb cobalt, $1,400/oz platinum, $1,000/oz palladium, and $1,400/oz gold and an exchange rate (C$/US$) of 
1.25, and the NSR factors stated in the body of this report. 

3. Open Pit Mineral Resources are reported within a resource pit shell at an NSR cut-off value of $22/t.  Underground 
Mineral Resources are reported at an NSR cut-off value of $62/t. 

4. Tonnage figures are rounded to three significant figures.  Totals may not add correctly due to rounding. 
5. The Mineral Resource estimate uses drill hole data available as of December 16 2015. 
6. The Mineral Resource estimate for the B4-7 Deposit is reported using densities calculated from estimated nickel + 

cobalt grades.  The Mineral Resource estimate for the Alpha Zone is reported using densities calculated from 
estimated nickel grades. 

 

The report also identified a new Exploration Target located immediately west of the B4-7 Deposit 
containing a potential 1.5 Mt to 2.0 Mt of sulphide mineralisation of similar grade range to that which 
has been outlined to-date (potential 18,000 to 24,000 tonnes of contained metal). 
 
There is significant value in the B4-7 Deposit in its credit commodities, in particular cobalt and 
palladium.  The B4-7 2018 resource upgrade reported a significant cobalt content credit of +4.6 million 
pounds for the deposit to date together with +66,000 ounces of Palladium. However, the adjacent 
Alpha Zone, which has only partially been included in the B4-7 resource, is palladium/platinum rich 
with drilling reporting intersections of 1.5 metres at 10.15g/t Pd in drill hole 0415-507 and 20.15 
metres at 1.54 g/t Pd. in drill-hole 0414-503 including 0.72 metres at 12.85 g/t Pd.  

Infrastructure: The city of Thunder Bay is located on the northern shore of Lake Superior and is the 
main supply hub for the mining centres of northern Ontario including Red Lake, Pickle Lake, and the 
Musselwhite gold mine. It has extensive port facilities and an airport providing daily flights to major 
provincial cities, as well as a rail line that provides access to both eastern and western North American 
markets. 
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Operations report continued 
 

Access to Junior Lake from Thunder Bay is via a sealed highway for 235 kilometres to the town of 
Armstrong and then via a well maintained forest products unsealed road for 105 kilometres that runs to 
the property. 
 
The Canadian National Railway runs parallel to the Junior Lake property 13 kilometres to the south 
providing direct transport access to both the nickel smelting centre of Sudbury and the port facilities at 
Thunder Bay. In addition, Junior Lake has abundant water resources nearby. 
 
Environmental Baseline Studies: Golder Associates of Sudbury, Ontario, have continued with the 
Environmental Baseline Studies programme initiated on the mining leases containing the B4-7 and VW 
Deposits in the winter of 2007. Water surface monitoring of lakes and drainage tributaries within the 
vicinity of the deposits have continued on at least a bi-annual basis since 2011. The area of influence 
has recently been expanded to include lakes and drainage further out from the leases. The 
environmental and baseline studies are all pre-requisite for permitting requirements for the 
development of the BAM, B4-7 and VW Deposits. 
 

Mining Leases: A pre-requisite for the development of the BAM, B4-7 and VW Deposits is to secure 
tenure over an area of land sufficiently large to provide for development, mining, processing, 
infrastructure and buffer zones around the mining areas and for future expansion. Landore has been 
granted three mining leases (“Mining Leases”), which include mining and surface rights, over an area 
encompassing the BAM, B4-7 and VW Deposits. The mining leases cover 23 existing exploration 
claims for a total area of 3,676 hectares and have been granted for 21 years renewable for further terms 
of 21 years. Additionally, in late 2019 Ontario’s Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and Mines 
granted the Company Mining Leases 109856 and 109857 encompassing all of Lamaune Iron Inc.’s 
exploration claims over an area totalling approximately 4,133 hectares.  
 
The combined Landore and Lamaune Mining Leases cover a total of approximately 7,862 hectares and 
extend for 22 kilometres, encompassing all of Landore’s established mineral deposits and prospects.  
These include: the BAM Gold Deposit; B4-7 Nickel-Copper-Cobalt-PGEs Deposit; VW Nickel-
Copper Deposit (all NI43-101 compliant); the Lamaune Gold Exploration Target; and the Lamaune 
Iron Deposit. 
 

Within the Mining Leases, Landore has the right, subject to provisions of certain Acts and reservations, 
to: 
• Sink shafts, excavations etc., for mining purposes. 
• Construct dams, reservoirs, railways, etc., as needed. 
• Erect buildings, machinery, furnaces, etc., as required and to treat ores. 
 
OTHER PROPERTIES: 
Landore has other non-core exploration properties which include grass roots exploration and defined 
drill targets. 
 
SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY: 
Landore believes that a successful project is best achieved through maintaining close working 
relationships with First Nations and other local communities. This social ideology is at the forefront of 
Landore’s exploration initiatives and the Company seeks to establish and maintain co-operative 
relationships with First Nations communities, hiring local personnel and using local contractors and 
suppliers where possible. 
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Operations report continued 
 
Careful attention is given to ensure that all exploration activity is performed in an environmentally 
responsible manner and abides by all relevant mining and environmental acts. Landore takes a 
conscientious role in all of its operations, and is aware of its social responsibility and its environmental 
duty. 
 
Michele Tuomi, P.Geo. 
Director/VP Exploration, Landore Resources Canada Inc. 
23 July 2020 
 

 
 
 
 



Landore Resources Limited Annual Report 2019   
 

15 

 

Board of Directors 

William Humphries (aged 79) – Chief Executive Officer 

William Humphries has over 45 years’ experience in the mining and civil engineering industries. From 
1996 to 1998 he was General Manager of Sardinia Gold Mining SpA.  From January 1999 to July 2002 
he was Managing Director of Brancote Holdings Plc until its merger with Meridian Gold Inc. and was 
Managing Director of Patagonia Gold Plc since its inception in November 2000 until February 2015. 

Glenn Featherby (aged 63) – Finance Director 

Glenn has over 35 years' experience in corporate advisory work and has an extensive background in the 
resources sector. Glenn is a Chartered Accountant and began his career with KPMG in Perth and 
London, prior to establishing his own accounting practice in Perth in 1997. He has previously served as 
a Non-Executive Director of Patagonia Gold Plc and as Non-Executive Chairman of Forte Energy NL 
amongst other positions. 

Charles Wilkinson (aged 77) – Non-Executive Chairman 

Charles Wilkinson is a solicitor who retired from Lawrence Graham LLP in March 2005. At Lawrence 
Graham he specialised in corporate finance and commercial law and advised mining companies. He is 
Chairman of Doric Nimrod Air One Limited and Doric Nimrod Air Three Limited, Non-Executive 
Director of Doric Nimrod Air Two Limited. 

Helen Green (aged 57) – Non-Executive Director 

Helen Green is a Chartered Accountant and has been employed by Saffery Champness, a UK top 20 
firm of Chartered Accountants, since 1984. She qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1988, and 
became a partner in the London office in 1998. Since 2000 she has been based in the Guernsey office 
where she is the client liaison director responsible for trust and company administration. 

She is a Non-Executive Director of CQS Natural Resources Growth and Income Plc, UK Mortgages 
Limited, JP Morgan Global Core Real Assets Limited and Aberdeen Emerging Markets Investment 
Company Limited. 
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Strategic report 

The Directors submit their Strategic report for Landore Resources Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

Principal activity 

The Group’s principal activity, mainly in Canada, is mineral exploration including the identification, 
acquisition and development of technically and economically sound mineral projects either alone or 
with joint venture partners. The main focus, in the year under review, has been on the Junior Lake 
project in North Eastern Ontario.  

A detailed review of the Group’s activities, the development of its business and an indication of likely 
future developments may be found in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement on page 3. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Group operates in an uncertain environment that may result in increased risk, costs pressures and 
schedule delays. The risks that face the Group are common to all of the Group’s mining activities. The 
following are some of the key risks that face the Group: 

Exploration and development risk 

There is no assurance that the Group’s exploration activities will be successful, and statistically few 
properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Accordingly, the Group is 
seeking to balance this risk by building a portfolio of projects and prospects that carry a range of 
differing technical and commercial risks and keeping under careful review the amount invested in any 
one project. 

The Group’s operations may also be curtailed, delayed or cancelled as a result of economic, 
environmental and political conditions in the area of operation. 

Competition 

There is strong competition within the mining industry for the identification and acquisition of suitable 
properties. The Group competes with other exploration and production companies, some of which have 
greater financial resources than the Group, for the acquisition of properties, leases and other interests as 
well as for the recruitment and retention of skilled personnel. The challenge to management is to secure 
transactions without having to over-pay. 

Fiscal regimes 

Canadian fiscal policies are complex, and it is therefore difficult to distinguish whether a future tax 
payment is possible or probable. Where a future tax payment is considered to be possible but not 
probable, provision has been made in the accounts. 

Financing 

The development of the Group’s properties will depend upon the Group’s ability to obtain financing 
primarily through the raising of new equity capital, but also by means of joint-venture of projects, debt 
financing, or other means. There is no assurance that the Group will be successful in obtaining the 
required financing. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, some interests 
may be relinquished and/or the scope of the operations reduced. 
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Strategic report continued 

Environmental and other regulatory requirements 

Existing and possible future environmental legislation, regulations and actions could cause additional 
expense, capital expenditures, restrictions and delays in the activities of the Group, the extent of which 
cannot be predicted. Before exploration and production can commence on any properties, the Group 
must obtain regulatory approval and there is no assurance that such approvals will be obtained. No 
assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or existing rules and 
regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail the Group’s operations. 

Key Performance Indicators 

The legislation requires the Board to lay down relevant Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which, for 
a company at Landore’s stage of development, are focused on managing the activities inherent in 
exploration and appraisal operations. The KPIs for the Group are as follows: 

Non-financial KPIs  Financial KPIs  
Health and safety 
management  

Lost time injury frequency rate medical 
treatment injury frequency rate 

Shareholder return Share price performance  

Environment 
management  

Strict environmental policies are in place  Exploration expenditure  Funding and development 
costs measured as per 
anticipated ounce of 
metals 

Operational success  The number of successful exploration 
drilling ventures Resources added 

Exploration development Results of scoping and 
feasibility studies 

Human resource 
management 

Employee retention rate   

 

Directors and employees 

At 31 December 2019, there were four Directors, three male and one female. 

At 31 December 2019, there was one female senior manager. 

The total number of employees at 31 December 2019 was one, female. 

Social and environmental responsibility 

Landore believes that a successful project is best achieved through maintaining close working 
relationships with First Nations and local communities. Landore has a Memorandum of Understanding 
with Whitesand and AZA First Nations with respect to the Junior Lake property. This agreement 
formalises the desire and commitment to develop a positive, mutually beneficial relationship amongst 
all parties and establishes the process by which this is to be accomplished while Landore is conducting 
exploration and advanced exploration activities in the area. 

Careful attention is given to ensure that all exploration activity is performed in an environmentally 
responsible manner and abides by all the relevant mining and environmental acts. Landore takes a 
conscientious role in all of its operations, and is aware of its social responsibility and environmental 
duty. 
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Directors’ report 

The Directors submit their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of Landore 
Resources Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 
December 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Company 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Company 
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Company 
Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company Statement of 
Cash Flows and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Principal activity 

The Group’s principal activity, mainly in Canada, is mineral exploration including the identification, 
acquisition and development of technically and economically sound mineral projects either alone or 
with joint venture partners. 

Regulation 

The Company was registered in Guernsey, Channel Islands on 16 February 2005 with registered 
number 42821 under the Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008 (the “New Law”).  

Review of the year 

A detailed review of the Group’s activities, the development of its business and an indication of likely 
future developments may be found in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement on page 3. 

Results and dividends 

The loss of the Group for the year, after taxation was £2,176,804 (2018: £2,781,810). The Directors do 
not recommend payment of a dividend. 

Going concern and management plans 

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position are set out in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement on pages 3 to 5 and the 
below principal risks and uncertainties. In addition, note 23 to the consolidated financial statements 
includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk 
management objectives; details of its financial instruments; and its exposures to credit risk and 
liquidity risk. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis with a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The Group’s loss after tax for the year as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
£2,176,804. 

Since the year end, the Group raised £225,000 on 14 January 2020, £260,000 on 24 April 2020 and 
£2.8 million on 13 July 2020.  These funds, together with other potential financings, are sufficient to 
meet the planned operational expenses and working capital for a further twelve months. In addition, the 
Group will continue to evaluate all options to maximise shareholder value. If the Group needs to raise 
further equity the Directors are confident that these funds can be raised from existing and new 
investors, as demonstrated in the past.  
Since 31 December 2019, the spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies 
around the globe. In many countries, including Canada, businesses are being forced to cease or limit 
operations for long or indefinite periods of time.  
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Directors’ report continued 

Measures taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing, 
and closures of non-essential services have triggered significant disruptions to businesses worldwide, 
resulting in an economic slowdown. Global stock markets have also experienced great volatility and a 
significant weakening. Governments and central banks have responded with monetary and fiscal 
interventions to stabilise economic conditions. 

The Group has determined that these events are non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, the 
financial position and results of operations as of and for the year ended 31 December 2019 have not 
been adjusted to reflect their impact. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as 
the effectiveness of government and central bank responses, remains unclear at this time. It is not 
possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of these consequences, as well as their impact on 
the financial position and results of the Group for future periods. 

Covid-19 has resulted in delays to operations up and until the financing plans could be completed, once 
these were finalised exploration activities recommenced. The consolidated financial statements do not 
include adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern. 

Exploration costs 

The Group continues to devote considerable resources to exploration costs. 

Directors 

The Directors who have held office since 1 January 2019 are as follows: 

Executive 

William Humphries (Chief Executive Officer) 
 
Richard Prickett (Finance Director) (Resigned 7 February 2020) 
 
Glenn Featherby (Finance Director) (Appointed 17 January 2020) 

Non-Executive 

Charles Wilkinson (Non-Executive Chairman) 
 
Helen Green (Non-Executive Director) 

The Directors in office as at 31 December 2019 had the following beneficial interest in the shares of 
the Company: 

 
Ordinary shares of 
nil par value each Share options 

 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
Executive Directors:     
William Humphries 87,294,366 70,644,119 35,000,000 20,500,000 
Richard Prickett 14,823,448 13,394,876 21,000,000 13,500,000 
Non-Executive Directors:     
Charles Wilkinson 2,154,047 2,154,047 3,000,000 1,250,000 
Helen Green 4,286,155 2,857,583 3,000,000 1,250,000 
     
Glenn Featherby, who joined the Board on 17 January 2020, currently holds 50,678,924 shares. 



Landore Resources Limited Annual Report 2019   
 

20 

 

Directors’ report continued 

Share options 
As at 31 December 2019 the following share options were held by Directors: 

Name Date granted Number Price Expiry date 
William Humphries 5 July 2017 10,000,000 £0.0319 5 July 2022 
William Humphries 22 December 2017 5,000,000 £0.022 22 December 2022 
William Humphries 24 July 2019 20,000,000 £0.00805 24 July 2024 
Richard Prickett 22 June 2016 6,000,000 £0.018 22 June 2021 
Richard Prickett 5 July 2017 5,000,000 £0.0319 5 July 2022 
Richard Prickett 24 July 2019 10,000,000 £0.00805 24 July 2024 
Charles Wilkinson 22 June 2016 500,000 £0.018 22 June 2021 
Charles Wilkinson 5 July 2017 500,000 £0.0319 5 July 2022 
Charles Wilkinson 24 July 2019 2,000,000 £0.00805 24 July 2024 
Helen Green 22 June 2016 500,000 £0.018 22 June 2021 
Helen Green 5 July 2017 500,000 £0.0319 5 July 2022 
Helen Green 24 July 2019 2,000,000 £0.00805 24 July 2024 
 

Directors 

Details in respect of the experience of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors are given on  
page 15. 

Related party transactions 

Details regarding transactions with related parties and details of Directors’ interests in contracts are 
given in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Share issues 

Details of shares issued in the year are given in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Subsequent events 

See note 27. 
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Directors’ report continued 

Substantial shareholdings 

The Company is aware of the following holdings of more than 3% of the share capital of the Company 
as at 21 July 2020: 

 
Shareholder name 
 

Percentage of share capital  
 

James Hudleston 14.01% 
Cannacord Genuity Group Inc  13.97% 
Eric Sprott  9.72% 
Arconas International Limited   6.19% 
William Humphries  5.85% 
 

Payment policy 

The Group applies a policy of agreeing payment terms with each of their main suppliers and the Group 
aims to abide by these terms, subject to satisfactory performance by suppliers. 

Auditors 

The Directors review the terms of reference for the auditors and obtain written confirmation that the 
firm has complied with its ethical guidance on ensuring its independence. Grant Thornton Limited 
provides audit services to the Company. The level of fees charged is reviewed by the Board to ensure 
they remain competitive and to ensure no conflicts of interest arise. 

A resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton Limited will be put to the members at the Annual General 
Meeting. 

By Order of the Board 

Director of Rysaffe International Services Limited 

as Secretary to Landore Resources Limited 

 

23 July 2020 
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Corporate governance report 

Financial aspects of corporate governance 

As an AIM-quoted company, Landore Resources Limited (“Landore” or the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is required to apply a recognised corporate governance code, 
demonstrating how the Group complies with such corporate governance code and where it departs 
from it. 

The Directors of the Company have formally taken the decision to apply the QCA Corporate 
Governance Code (the “QCA Code”). The Board recognises the principles of the QCA Code, which 
focus on the creation of medium to long-term value for shareholders without stifling the 
entrepreneurial spirit in which small to medium sized companies, such as Landore, have been created. 
The Company will provide annual updates on its compliance with the QCA Code in its Annual Report. 

The Board 

The Board comprises four Directors of which two are executives and two are non-executives, including 
the Chairman, reflecting a blend of different experience and backgrounds. The Board considers that 
Charles Wilkinson (Chairman) and Helen Green are both independent and, having considered the 
length of service on the Board, have determined that in terms of interest, perspective and judgement 
both remain independent. Apart from receiving Directors' remuneration as disclosed in the Report and 
Accounts, and their share options neither of them receives any other  performance related remuneration  
or has any other pecuniary relationship or has had in the period under review any transaction with the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its directors or senior management or associates which might in 
any way affect their judgement as to what is right and proper in performing their duties and 
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. The Board considers that the Chairman and the Finance 
Director have both demonstrated their independence of character and judgement over the full period of 
their association with the Company. 

The Board meets throughout the year and all major decisions are taken by the full Board. The Group’s 
day-to-day operations are managed by the Executive Directors. All Directors have access to the 
Company Secretary and any Director needing independent professional advice in the furtherance of 
his/her duties may obtain this advice at the expense of the Group. 

The Board is satisfied that it has a suitable balance between independence on the one hand, and 
knowledge of the Company on the other, to enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities 
effectively, and that all Directors have adequate time to fill their roles. 

The Board held 13 Board meetings up to 31 December 2019, and the attendance record of individual 
Directors is as follows: 

Director No of meetings 
Charles Wilkinson 11 
William Humphries 6 
Helen Green 11 
Richard Prickett 9 

Details of the current Directors, their roles and background are set out on the Company’s website at 
www.landore.com. The Directors all have the relevant professional experience and expertise required 
to fulfil their roles and discharge their duties. All appropriate resources that Directors require to 
augment, improve and maintain their skills and professional development and/or membership of 
professional bodies are  available to them as needed.  
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Corporate governance report continued 

The non-executive Directors maintain their relevant experience and knowledge through positions held 
either in employment or as non-executive directors of other listed entities, details of which are 
provided in the Annual Report on page 15.  

External legal and financial advice is provided as required on corporate matters and on operational 
matters the Company engages and retains independent technical consultants to complete appropriate 
studies and provide reports as necessary. 

Company secretarial services are provided by Rysaffe International Services Ltd who also provide 
registrar services through Computershare. The Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretariat team who are also responsible for ensuring that all Board procedures have been 
complied with. 

The role of the Chairman is to provide leadership of the Board and ensure its effectiveness on all 
aspects of its remit to maintain control of the Group. In addition, the Chairman is responsible for the 
implementation and practice of sound corporate governance. The Chairman is considered independent 
and has adequate separation from the day-to-day running of the Group. 

The role of the Chief Executive Officer is for the strategic development of the Group and for 
communicating it clearly to the Board and, once approved by the Board, for implementing it. In 
addition, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the management of the Group and 
its executive management. 

Application of the QCA Code 

In the spirit of the QCA Code it is the Board’s job to ensure that the Group is managed for the long-
term benefit of all shareholders and other stakeholders with effective and efficient decision-making. 
Corporate governance is an important part of that job, reducing risk and adding value to the Group. The 
Board will continue to monitor the governance framework of the Group as it grows. 

Landore is an exploration company that seeks to grow shareholder value through the acquisition, 
exploration and development of precious and base metal projects in eastern Canada. The Company 
seeks to promote the long-term value for shareholders by leveraging the technical knowledge and 
experience of its executive directors and senior management to achieve further significant uplift in its 
mineral resources and complete the necessary associated technical work.  

The key challenges facing the Company relate to the ongoing financing of the exploration activity and 
the identification of the optimal drilling locations within the licence areas, these challenges are 
regularly reviewed given the executive Directors’ extensive industry experience. The operational 
policy and the long-term drilling strategy are both regularly reviewed and are geared towards meeting 
these challenges. 

The Directors consider the relationship with the Company’s technical consultants and drilling team to 
be the key in the delivery of the Company’s long-term strategy. Key relationships are identified 
through the  executive Directors’ experience of both the specific resource and location of the current 
projects, and through their extensive experience of the industry and the market. 

The Company remains committed to listening to, and communicating openly with, its shareholders to 
ensure that its strategy, business model and performance are clearly understood.  The AGM is a forum 
for shareholders to engage in dialogue with the Board. The results of the AGMs in 2018 and 2019 
showed that 100 per cent of all votes cast were in favour of all the resolutions.   
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Corporate governance report continued 

In future, voting details will be published via RNS and on the Company’s website. In addition, the 
Board organises regular update meetings with both the shareholders and the Company’s brokers. 
Regular progress reports are also made via RNS and the point of contact is Glenn Featherby, Finance 
Director.  His contact details are available on the Company’s website. 

Landore believes that a successful project is best achieved through maintaining close working 
relationships with First Nations and other local communities, this social commitment is at the forefront 
of all of Landore’s exploration initiatives by establishing and maintaining co-operative relationships 
with First Nation communities, hiring local personnel and using local contractors and suppliers where 
possible.  

Landore’s management maintains a close dialogue with local communities and its workforce. When 
issues are raised, the Board takes the matters seriously and appropriate steps are taken to ensure that 
these are integrated into the Company’s strategy. 

Careful attention is given to ensure that all exploration activity is performed in an environmentally 
responsible manner and abides by all relevant mining and environmental acts. Landore takes a 
conscientious role in all of its operations and is aware of its social responsibility and its environmental 
duty. 

Both the engagement with local communities and the performance of all activities in an 
environmentally and socially responsible way are closely monitored by the Board to ensure that the 
Company’s culture, ethical values and behaviours are recognised. 

The operational Directors and senior management are heavily involved with the day to day operations 
of the Company including maintaining a well-run and effective site and instilling the importance of 
professionalism and inclusivity. 

There is a schedule of matters reserved for the Board which include, management structure and 
appointments, strategic policy considerations, transactions, finance and other matters. 

The governance framework will be monitored and adapted in line with the challenging position of the 
Company and its exploration activities. 

Corporate Governance Committees 

The Board has established two committees comprising Non-Executive Directors.  

The composition of the committees is as follows: 

Audit Remuneration 

Helen Green (Chairman) Helen Green (Chairman) 

Charles Wilkinson Charles Wilkinson 

The Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee has met twice during the year to review the published financial information, the 
effectiveness of external audit and internal financial controls including the specific matters set out 
below. 

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are to assist all the Directors in discharging their 
individual and collective legal responsibilities and during the meetings the following were considered 
to ensure that: 
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Corporate governance report continued 

• The Group’s financial and accounting systems provide accurate and up-to-date information on 
its current financial position, including all significant issues and going concern; 

• The integrity of the Group’s financial statements and any formal announcements relating to the 
Group’s financial performance and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments 
contained therein are monitored; 

• The Group’s published financial statements represent a true and fair reflection of this position; 
and taken as a whole are balanced, understandable providing the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy; 

• The external audit is conducted in an independent, objective thorough, efficient and effective 
manner, through discussions with management and the external auditor; and 

• A recommendation is made to the Board for it to put to shareholders in general meeting, in 
relation to the reappointment, appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve 
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor. 

 
The audit committee does not consider there is a need for an internal audit function given the size and 
nature of the Group. 

Significant issues considered by the Audit Committee during the year have been the Principal Risks 
and Uncertainties and their effect on the financial statements. The Audit Committee tracked the 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties through the year and kept in contact with the Group’s Management, 
External Service Providers and Advisors and received regular updates. The Audit Committee is 
satisfied that there has been appropriate focus and challenge on the high-risk areas. 

Risks are identified by the Board through the extensive experience of the Directors, as outlined above, 
and by their day to day involvement with the operations of the Company. Key risks are identified and 
documented in relation to the specific business objective that they could impact with the internal 
controls of the business being adapted to provide a suitable mitigation of these risks. As such there is a 
risk assessment and review process, which is regularly reviewed by the Board and its sub-committees, 
which the Board believes is an effective risk management strategy. 

Grant Thornton Limited, the current external auditors, have been in office since 2009 which was the 
last time a tender for the audit took place.  

The external auditors are invited to attend the Audit Committee meeting to present their findings and 
this provides them with a direct line of communication to the Directors. 

The audit committee was in agreement with all the findings and recommendations. 

Remuneration Committee 

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are to: 

• recommend to the Board a framework for rewarding senior management, including Executive 
Directors, bearing in mind the need to attract and retain individuals of the highest calibre and 
with the appropriate experience to make a significant contribution to the Group; and 

• ensure that the elements of the remuneration package are competitive and help in underpinning 
the performance-driven culture of the Group. 
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Corporate governance report continued 

The remuneration committee met during the year to consider and approve executive remuneration and 
any awards of share options. 

Internal control 

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control, which is 
designed to ensure adherence to the Group’s policies whilst safeguarding the assets of the Group, in 
addition to ensuring the completeness and accuracy of the accounting records. Responsibility for 
implementing a system of internal financial control is delegated to the Finance Director. The essential 
elements of the Group’s internal financial control procedures involve: 

• Strategic business planning 

 Detailed financial projections for the current financial year are prepared and subject to formal 
review at regular Board meetings. 

• Performance review 

 The Directors aim to monitor the Group’s performance through the preparation of quarterly 
management accounts and regular reviews of expenditure and projections. 

Departure from the QCA Code 

The Board considers that compliance with the ten principles of the QCA code are met as explained in 
the Corporate Governance Report, other than as described below. 

In accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies, Landore departs from the QCA Code in the 
following way:  

Principle 7 – “Evaluate board performance based on clear and relevant objectives, seeking 
continuous improvement.”  

Landore’s board is small and extremely focussed on implementing the Company’s strategy. However, 
given the size and nature of Landore, the Board does not consider it appropriate to have a formal 
performance evaluation procedure in place, as described and recommended in Principle 7 of the QCA 
Code.  As such it is not relevant to consider succession planning. The Board will closely monitor the 
situation as the Company grows. 

Going concern 

The Directors confirm that it is suitable for the financial statements to be drawn up on the going 
concern basis. 

A full explanation of the Directors’ reasoning behind this assumption is given on pages 18 to 19. 



Landore Resources Limited Annual Report 2019   
 

27 

 

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Directors’ report and the consolidated financial 
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and the Group and of the profit and loss of the Group for that year. In preparing those 
consolidated financial statements, the Directors are required to:  

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

• prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the Company and the Group will continue in business; and 

• state whether applicable accounting policies have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the consolidated financial statements. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and Group and to enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. The Directors have 
reviewed during the current year the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems, including financial, operational and compliance controls. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors take responsibility for ensuring that the Group’s published consolidated financial 
statements represent a true and fair reflection of its current financial position, and taken as a whole are 
balanced, understandable and providing the information necessary for Shareholders to assess the 
Group’s performance, business model and strategy. 

In accordance with the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 each Director confirms that so far as they are 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware. The 
Directors also confirm that they have taken all steps they ought to have taken as a Director to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is 
aware of that information. 
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Opinion 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements is unmodified 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Landore Resources Limited (the ‘Parent 
Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise 
the Consolidated and Company Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and 
Company Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in 
Equity, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements: 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs and of the Parent Company’s affairs 

as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group’s loss and the Parent Company’s loss for the year 
then ended; 

• are in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and 
• comply with The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008.  
 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)  
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements’ section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Guernsey, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Emphasis of matters – subsequent events relating to COVID-19 
We draw attention to note 27 of the consolidated financial statements, which explains that while the 
Directors remain confident that the going concern basis remains appropriate in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements and they consider COVID-19 to be a non-adjusting event and 
therefore no adjustment has been made as at 31 December 2019, the Directors will be closely 
monitoring the latest market developments relating to COVID-19 and the possible future impact 
on the Group. Our opinion is not modified in this respect. 
 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following information in the annual report, in relation 
to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 
• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements is not appropriate; or   
• the directors have not disclosed in the consolidated financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue. 
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and include the most 
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. 
These matters included those that had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the 
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
Key Audit Matter - Group How the matter was addressed in the audit - 

Group 
Risk 1 Valuation of Share-based 
payments 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments are 
measured at fair value at the date of grant. 
The fair value is measured using the Black-
Scholes model and involves significant 
judgement and estimates. Therefore, the 
valuation of share-based payments is a risk 
that requires particular audit attention. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 
• obtaining an understanding of management’s 

process to recognise and measure share-based 
payments, reviewing the movements in share-
based payments during the year and ensuring 
that all share-based payments have been 
correctly recorded; and 

• reviewing the assumptions used in determining 
the fair value of the share-based payments 
assessing whether such assumptions were 
reasonable.  

 
The Group’s accounting policy share-based payments 
is shown in note 3 and related disclosures are 
included in note 16. 
  
Key observations 
We determined that the assumptions used in the 
valuations were supportable in light of the available 
market evidence. 
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Key Audit Matter - Group How the matter was addressed in the audit - 
Group 

Risk 2 Going Concern assumption not 
applicable 
 
The Group is in its exploration phase and 
therefore is not generating income to 
finance its operations and is reliant on 
continued financial support from its 
investors. Therefore, the going concern 
assumption of the Group is a risk that 
requires particular audit attention. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 
 
• reviewing board meeting minutes and public 

announcements regarding the operations of the 
Group and results and updates on its mining 
activities; 

• evaluation of management’s assessment of the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
by obtaining and reviewing the cash flow 
projections and operational plans for the next 
twelve months and assessing the reasonableness 
of the underlying assumptions used; and 

• verifying the fundraising activities of the Group 
including the fundraising in July 2020 which 
supports the ability of the Group to meet its 
ongoing financial obligation for twelve months 
from the signing of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
The Group's accounting policy on Going concern is 
shown in note 3. The Board identified Going 
concern as a significant issue in their report on page 
18 to 19, where the Board also described the action 
that it has taken to address this issue.  
 
Key observations  
We determined that the assumption that the Group 
will continue to operate as a going concern is 
reasonable following the successful fund raising by 
the Group in July 2020. 
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Our application of materiality 
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the consolidated and company financial 
statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person 
would be changed or influenced. We use materiality in determining the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit work and in evaluating the results of that work.  
 
Materiality was determined as follows: 
 
Materiality measure Group  Parent 

Financial statements as a 
whole 

£55,800 which is 2% of total 
expenses. This benchmark is 
considered the most appropriate 
because Group exploration costs is 
the primary performance measure. 
The Group has no material assets as 
it is in the development stage and 
does not capitalise the exploration 
costs. 

£25,000 as determined based 
on the materiality at group 
level. 

Performance materiality 
used to drive the extent 
of our testing 

75% of financial statement materiality 75% of financial statement 
materiality 

Communication of  
misstatements to the 
audit committee 

Threshold is £2,800 including 
misstatements below that threshold 
that, in our view, warrant reporting 
on qualitative grounds. 

Threshold is £1,250 including 
misstatements below that 
threshold that, in our view, 
warrant reporting on 
qualitative grounds. 

 
 
An overview of the scope of our audit 
Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Group's business and is risk based, and 
in particular included: 
 
• evaluation by the group audit team of identified components to assess the significance of that 

component and to determine the planned audit response based on a measure of materiality; 
• understanding and evaluation the group's internal controls environment including its IT systems and 

controls;  
• for components determined to be significant, a full scope or performance of specific procedures was 

taken based on their relative materiality to the Group and assessment of audit risk. Significant 
components audited using a full scope by the Group and component audit teams included Landore 
Resources Limited and Landore Resources Canada Inc. Landore Resources Canada Inc. was audited by 
Grant Thornton LLP;  

• analytical procedures were performed over remaining group components; 
• communication between the Group audit team and Grant Thornton LLP was continuous via e-mails 

and regular conference calls throughout the planning, substantive and completion stages of the Group 
audit; and 

• substantive testing on significant transaction, balances and disclosures, the extent of which was based 
on various factors such as our overall assessment of the Group control environment and the 
management of specific risks. 
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Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Operations report, Strategic report, Directors’ report, Corporate Governance report, 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities statement set out on pages 6 to 27 and the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting set out on pages 72 to 75, other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which The Companies 
(Guernsey) Law, 2008 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
• proper accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company; or 
• the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 
• we have not obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge 

and belief, are necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
 
Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated financial statements 
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 27, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
and the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. 
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 
 



Independent auditors’ report continued 
To the shareholders of Landore Resources Limited 

 

33 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 262 of The 
Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
Michael Carpenter 
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton Limited 
Chartered Accountants 
St Peter Port 
Guernsey 
 
23 July 2020 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

  Group Group 
  31 December 31 December 
  2019  2018  
 Notes £ £ 
Exploration costs 9 (1,241,647) (2,045,702) 
Administrative expenses 25 (904,424) (744,770) 
Operating loss  (2,146,071) (2,790,472) 
Finance income 5 151 6,992 
Loss before income tax  (2,145,920) (2,783,480) 
Income tax  8 — — 
Loss for the year  (2,145,920) (2,783,480) 
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:    
Exchange difference on translating foreign operations 18 (30,884) 1,670 
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year net of tax  (30,884) 1,670 
Total comprehensive loss for year  (2,176,804) (2,781,810) 
Loss attributable to:    
Equity holders of the Company  (2,144,998) (2,782,726) 
Non-controlling interests  (922) (754) 
Total comprehensive loss attributable to:    
Equity holders of the Company  (2,175,882) (2,781,056) 
Non-controlling interests  (922) (754) 
Loss per share for losses attributable to the equity holders     
of the Company during the year     
– basic 10 (0.002) (0.003) 
– diluted 10 (0.002) (0.003) 

The Group’s operating loss relates to continuing operations. 

 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Company Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

  Company Company 
  31 December 31 December 
  2019 2018  
 Notes £ £ 
Administrative expenses 25 (629,645) (577,675) 
Operating loss  (629,645) (577,675) 
Interest receivable  151 6,992 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)  223,960 (555,656) 
Loss before income tax  (405,534) (1,126,339) 
Income tax expense  — — 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (405,534) (1,126,339) 

The Company’s operating loss relates to continuing operations. 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

As at 31 December 2019 

  Group Group 
 

 
At  

31 December 
At  

31 December 
  2019  2018  
 Notes £ £ 
Assets    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment  11 32,323 43,748 
  32,323 43,748 
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 13 19,965 42,946 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 107,668 277,458 
  127,633 320,404 
Total assets  159,956 364,152 
Equity    
Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s     
equity holders    
Share capital – nil par value 15 42,915,903 41,247,016 
Share-based payment reserve 16 640,347 726,453 
Accumulated deficit 17 (43,353,485) (41,432,637) 
Translation reserve 18 (343,517) (312,633) 
Total equity shareholders’ funds  (140,752) 228,199 
    
Non-controlling interests 22 (3,227) (2,305) 
    
Total equity  (143,979) 225,894 
 
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 14 269,058 103,787 
Current income tax liabilities 14 34,877 34,471 
  303,935 138,258 
Total liabilities  303,935 138,258 
Total equity and liabilities  159,956 364,152 

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 23 July 2020. 

 
 
 
William Humphries Glenn Featherby 
Director Director 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Company statement of financial position 

As at 31 December 2019 

  Company Company 
 

 
At  

31 December 
At  

31 December 
  2019  2018  
 Notes £ £ 
Assets    
Non current assets    
Investment in subsidiaries 12 94,888 94,888 
  94,888 94,888 
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 13 31,505,051 29,894,040 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 57,101 245,672 
  31,562,152 30,139,712 
Total assets  31,657,040 30,234,600 
 
Equity    
Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s     
equity holders    
Share capital – nil par value 15 42,915,903 41,247,016 
Share-based payment reserve 16 640,347 726,453 
Accumulated deficit 17 (11,984,556) (11,803,172) 
Total equity shareholders’ funds  31,571,694 30,170,297 
 
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 14 85,346 64,303 
Total liabilities  85,346 64,303 
Total equity and liabilities  31,657,040 30,234,600 

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 July 
2020. 

 
 
 
William Humphries Glenn Featherby 
Director Director 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

   Equity shareholders’ funds 
  

Share 
capital Share-based Accumulated Translation 

 
Non-

controlling   
 nil par value payment deficit reserve interest Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Balance as at 1 January 2018 38,322,307 855,453 (38,778,911) (314,303) (1,551) 82,995 
Share option reserve adjustment for 
lapsed options (note 16) 

 
— (129,000) 129,000 — 

 
— — 

Issue of ordinary share capital - nil par (note 
15) 

 
3,150,000 — — — 

 
— 3,150,000 

Issue costs (note 15) (225,291) — — — — (225,291) 
Total transactions with owners 2,924,709 (129,000) 129,000 — — 2,924,709 
Loss for the year — — (2,782,726) — (754) (2,783,480) 
Exchange difference from translating       
foreign operations — — — 1,670 — 1,670 
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — (2,782,726) 1,670 (754) (2,781,810) 
Balance as at 31 December 2018 41,247,016 726,453 (41,432,637) (312,633) (2,305) 225,894 
 
Balance as at 1 January 2019 

 
41,247,016 726,453 (41,432,637) (312,633) 

 
(2,305) 225,894 

Share option reserve adjustment for 
lapsed options (note 16) 

 
— (224,150) 224,150 — 

 
— — 

Issue of options (note 16) — 128,243 — — — 128,243 
Issue of warrants (note 16) — 9,801 — — — 9,801 
Issue of ordinary share capital - nil par (note 
15) 

 
1,820,000 — — — 

 
— 1,820,000 

Issue costs (note 15) (151,113) — — — — (151,113) 
Total transactions with owners 1,668,887 (86,106) 224,150 — — 1,806,931 
Loss for the year — — (2,144,998) — (922) (2,145,920) 
Exchange difference from translating       
foreign operations — — — (30,884) — (30,884) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — (2,144,998) (30,884) (922) (2,176,804) 
Balance as at 31 December 2019 42,915,903 640,347 (43,353,485) (343,517) (3,227) (143,979) 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Company statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
 Share capital Share-based Accumulated  
 nil par value payment deficit Total 
 £ £ £ £ 
Balance as at 1 January 2018 38,322,307 855,453 (10,805,833) 28,371,927 
Lapsed options (note 16) — (129,000) 129,000 — 
Issue of ordinary share capital - nil par (note 15) 3,150,000 — — 3,150,000 
Issue costs (note 15) (225,291) — — (225,291) 
Total transactions with owners 2,924,709 (129,000) 129,000 2,924,709 
Loss for the year — — (1,126,339) (1,126,339)  
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — (1,126,339) (1,126,339) 
Balance as at 31 December 2018 41,247,016 726,453 (11,803,172) 30,170,297 
 
Balance as at 1 January 2019 

 
41,247,016 726,453 (11,803,172) 30,170,297 

Lapsed options (note 16) — (224,150) 224,150 — 
Issue of options (note 16) — 128,243 — 128,243 
Issue of warrants (note 16) — 9,801 — 9,801 
Issue of ordinary share capital - nil par (note 15) 1,820,000 — — 1,820,000 
Issue costs (note 15) (151,113) — — (151,113) 
Total transactions with owners 1,668,887 (86,106) 224,150 1,806,931 
Loss for the year — — (405,534) (405,534) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — (405,534) (405,534) 
Balance as at 31 December 2019 42,915,903 640,347 (11,984,556) 31,571,694 
     

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

  Group Group 
  31 December 31 December 
  2019  2018  
 Notes £ £ 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Operating loss  (2,146,071) (2,790,472) 
Finance income 5 151 6,992 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 11 12,121 16,490 
Share options issued  128,244 — 
Foreign exchange loss on non-cash items  (33,620) (1,762) 
Decrease in trade and other receivables  23,622 4,589 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  266,979 (251,999) 
Net cash used in operating activities  (1,748,574) (3,016,162) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares  15 1,720,000 3,150,000 
Issue costs 15 (141,312) (225,291) 
Net cash generated by financing activities  1,578,688 2,924,709 
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (169,886) (91,453) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  277,458 369,604 
Exchange gain/(loss) on cash and cash equivalents  96 (693) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  107,668 277,458 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Company statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

  Company Company 
  31 December 31 December 
  2019 2018  
 Notes £ £ 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Operating loss  (629,645) (577,675) 
Finance income  151 6,992 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) on non-cash items  223,961 (555,656) 
Share options issued 16 128,243 — 
Increase in trade and other receivables  (1,611,012) (1,903,345) 
Increase in trade and other payables  121,043 8,891 
Net cash used in operating activities  (1,767,259) (3,020,793) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 15 1,720,000 3,150,000 
Issue costs  (141,312) (225,291) 
Net cash generated by financing activity  1,578,688 2,924,709 
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (188,571) (96,084) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  245,672 341,756 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  57,101 245,672 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1 General information 

The Company was registered in Guernsey, Channel Islands on 16 February 2005 with registered 
number 42821 under the Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008 (the “New Law”). The Company is 
listed on AIM with the trading symbol LND.L. The principal activity, mainly in Canada, is 
mineral exploration including the identification, acquisition and development of technically and 
economically sound mineral projects either alone or with joint venture partners. 

2 Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with EU-Adopted 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“EU IFRS”), which comprise standards and 
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), the International 
Accounting Standards and Standards Interpretations Committee Interpretations approved by the 
International Accounting Standards Committee (“IASC”) that remain in effect and to the extent 
that they have been adopted by the European Union. 

3 Significant accounting policies 

Basis of accounting 

The consolidated and Company financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis. The functional currency for the Company is considered to be GBP Sterling. The principal 
accounting policies adopted are set out below. 

The Directors have a reasonable expectation and with continued support from the shareholders, 
that the Company will have adequate resources to continue trading for a period of at least 
twelve months following the date of approval of these accounts. Thus they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 

Landore Resources Limited is domiciled in Guernsey. Its registered office is shown on page 2. 

Changes in Accounting Policies 

New and revised standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019 have been adopted in these Group and Company financial statements. 

 
During the financial year, the Group has adopted the following new IFRSs (including 
amendments thereto) and IFRIC interpretations, which became effective for the first time.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

Standard 
Effective date, annual 
period beginning on or 

after 

Date of 
endorsement 

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 31 October 2017 
IFRIC Interpretation 23 – Uncertainty 
over Income Tax Treatments 

1 January 2019 23 October 2018 

Amendments to IFRS 9 – Prepayment 
Features with Negative Compensation 

1 January 2019 22 March 2018 

Amendments to IAS 28 – Long-term 
Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 

1 January 2019 8 February 2019 

Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle 1 January 2019 14 March 2019 
Amendments to IAS 19: Plan amendment, 
Curtailment or Settlement 

1 January 2019 13 March 2019 

 
The Group’s management have reviewed the application of the amendments and have concluded 
that there is no impact on these group and company financial statements. 

 
IFRS 16 Leases 
This is a new accounting standard which replaces IAS 17.  

 
This is a new standard that introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of a low value.  
A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.  
IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure requirements for lessees. Lessees will need to apply 
judgement in deciding upon the information to disclose to meet the objective of providing a 
basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the lessee.  
IFRS 16 carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. However, it will require 
enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will improve information disclosed about a 
lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to residual value risk.  
Upon adoption, the Group has elected to apply the available exemptions as permitted by IFRS 
16 to recognize a lease expense on a straight-line basis for short-term leases (lease term of 12 
months or less) and low value assets (£5,000 or less). There was close attention paid to all of the 
Group's drilling contracts to ensure that they did not contain embedded leases for property, plant 
and equipment. None of those contracts resulted in right of use of an asset. 
 
IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
This interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. It should be applied 
to the determination of taxable profit/loss, tax bases, unused tax losses/credits and tax rates 
when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. It covers: 
• Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively 
• Assumptions for taxation authorities’ examinations 
• Determination of taxable profit/loss, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 

tax rates 
• The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.  

 



Landore Resources Limited Annual Report 2019   
 

44 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

Amendments to IFRS 9 – Prepayment features with negative compensation 
This amendment to IFRS 9 addresses concerns about how particular prepayable financial assets 
would be classified under IFRS 9. Under IFRS 9 certain prepayment options would preclude 
instruments that otherwise only feature contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest from being measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI. 
 
Instruments with prepayment features with negative compensation are consequently permitted to 
be measured at amortised cost (or depending on the business model, at fair value through OCI). 
The amendment further clarifies the accounting for a modification or exchange of a financial 
liability measured at amortised cost that does not result in the derecognition of the financial 
liability. The IASB clarifies that any adjustment to the amortised cost of the financial liability 
arising from such a modification should be recognised in profit or loss at the date of the 
modification/exchange. 

 
Amendments to IAS 28 – Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 
This amendment clarifies that an entity applies IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ to long term 
interests in an associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture but to which the equity method is not applied. This includes the impairment 
requirements.  
 
Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle 
This cycle contains the following amendments: 
IFRS 3 Business combinations and IFRS 11 Joint arrangements – The amendments clarified that 
obtaining control of a business that is a joint operation is a business combination achieved in 
stages. The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when an entity obtains joint control of a 
business that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure previously held interests in that 
business. 
 
IAS 12 Income Taxes – Clarified that the income tax consequences of dividends on financial 
instruments classified as equity should be recognised according to where the past transactions or 
events that generated distributable profits were recognised.  
 
IAS 23 Borrowing costs – Clarification that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after 
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds 
that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings. 
 
Amendments to IAS 19: Plan amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits specifies how a company accounts for a defined benefit plan. When 
a change to a plan—an amendment, curtailment or settlement—takes place, IAS 19 requires a 
company to remeasure its net defined benefit liability or asset. 
 
The amendments require a company to use the updated assumptions from this remeasurement to 
determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the 
change to the plan. Until now, IAS 19 did not specify how to determine these expenses for the 
period after the change to the plan. 
 
In addition, amendments have been included to clarify the effect of a plan amendment, 
curtailment or settlement on the requirements regarding the asset ceiling. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been issued 
but are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group and the Company 

 
At the date of authorisation of these Group and Company financial statements, certain new 
standards, and amendments to existing standards have been published by the IASB that are not 
yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group and the Company. Information on 
those expected to be relevant to the Group’s and the Company’s consolidated and separate 
financial statements is provided below. 

 
Group and Company management anticipate that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted in 
the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies for the first period beginning after the 
effective date of the pronouncement. New standards, interpretations and amendments not either 
adopted or listed below are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s and 
Company’s financial statements. 

 
Conceptual Framework and Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in 
IFRS Standards 
The Conceptual Framework sets out the fundamental concepts of financial reporting that guide 
the Board in developing IFRS Standards. It helps to ensure that the Standards are conceptually 
consistent and that similar transactions are treated the same way, providing useful information 
for investors and others. 
 
The Conceptual Framework also assists companies in developing accounting policies when no 
IFRS Standard applies to a particular transaction; and it helps stakeholders more broadly to 
understand the Standards better. 
 
The revised Conceptual Framework includes: a new chapter on measurement; guidance on 
reporting financial performance; improved definitions and guidance—in particular the definition 
of a liability; and clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence 
and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. 
The amendments are effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2020, 
endorsed by the EU on 29 November 2019. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
The Amendments are changes to Appendix A Defined terms, the application guidance, and the 
illustrative examples of IFRS 3 only. They: 
• Clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must 

include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly 
contribute to the ability to create outputs;  

• Narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services 
provided to customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;  

• Add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive 
process has been acquired; 
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• Remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any 
missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs; and 

• Add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an 
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business 

 
This amendment is effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2020, not yet 
endorsed by the EU. 
 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7  

The amendments modify some specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from 
potential effects of the uncertainty caused by the reform of interbank offered rates (IBORs). 

Entities will apply hedge accounting requirements assuming that the interest rate benchmark on 
which the hedged cash flows and cash flows from the hedging instrument are based, will not be 
altered by the reform. In addition, disclosures are required to show the extent to which hedging 
relationships are affected by the amendments.  

This is the culmination of Phase 1 of the IASB’s project on interest rate benchmark reforms. 
Phase 2 is considering the potential consequences on financial reporting of replacing an existing 
benchmark with an alternative.  

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material 
The amendments clarify the definition of ‘material’ and align the definition used in the 
Conceptual Framework and the standards. 
 
The Group’s and Company’s management have reviewed the application of the amendments 
and have concluded that there is no expected impact on the Group and Company financial 
statements. 
 
The amendments are effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2020, 
endorsed by the EU on 9 November 2019. 
 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries and collectively the “Group”) made up to 31 
December 2019. Control is achieved where the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until control ceases. 

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured 
at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair 
values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency of the 
cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired (i.e. discount on 
acquisition) is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period of acquisition. 
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Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 
accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group. All intra-group transactions, 
balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 

The Directors consider that the Company exerts control over its subsidiaries listed in note 12 by 
virtue of its ownership of 100% of the share capital in each of those companies and therefore 
100% of the voting rights and rights to variable returns from its involvement with those 
companies (apart from Lamaune Iron Inc which is owned 90.2%). The Directors therefore 
consider that the Company has control over the companies it identifies as its subsidiaries in 
accordance with IFRS 10. 

Separate financial statements 

Under Section 244(5) of The Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008, the Directors are not required 
to present the separate financial statements of the Company but have elected to present separate 
financial statements for the purposes of investor information. 

In accordance with IAS 27, the Company accounts for investments in subsidiaries at cost. All 
other accounting policies applied by the Company are consistent with those stated for the 
Group. 

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented in accordance with IFRS 10 and 
the names, principal place of business and proportion of the ownership interest held in the 
Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in note 12. 

Deferred exploration expenditure 

When the Group has incurred expenditure on mining properties that have not reached the stage 
of commercial production, the costs of acquiring the rights to such properties, and related 
exploration and development costs, are capitalised deferred where the expected recovery of 
costs is considered probable by the successful exploitation or sale of the asset. Full provision is 
made in respect of deferred costs on properties in the case that insufficient exploration has taken 
place to ascertain future recoverability. Where mining properties are abandoned, the deferred 
expenditure is written off in full. 

Option income 

Option income is recognised based upon amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying 
option agreement. Specifically, income is recognised in accordance with the terms of the 
underlying option agreements subject to (i) the pervasive evidence of the existence of 
arrangements; (ii) the risks and rewards having been transferred; (iii) the option income being 
fixed or determinable; and (iv) the collectability of the option income being reasonably assured. 

Joint operations 

Operations that are jointly controlled by the Company and other ventures independent of the 
Company (joint ventures) are accounted for by recognizing the Company’s share of the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses is included line by line in the consolidated financial statements. 

Amounts reported in the financial statements of jointly controlled entities have been adjusted 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Company. 
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The Company participates in co-ownership agreements with other parties which are labelled 
“joint venture agreements.”  These agreements do not constitute joint arrangements for purposes 
of applying IFRS 11 in that the percentage ownership in the jointly held property is such that 
control resides with the majority ownership interest. In this case, the Company records their 
share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the venture. 

Foreign currencies 

(a) Functional and presentation currency  

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in GBP Sterling, which is the 
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency. 

(b) Transactions and balances 

Transactions in currencies other than GBP Sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the 
reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was 
determined.  

Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the period, except for exchange differences arising on non-monetary assets and 
liabilities where the changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation 
reserve.  

Profit/loss from operations 

Loss from operations is stated before finance income and costs and foreign exchange gains and 
losses. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues and is credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period to which it relates. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less provision for depreciation. Depreciation is 
provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write off the cost of each 
asset less its estimated residual value evenly over its estimated useful life, as follows: 

Computer hardware  – 30% declining balance 

Office equipment   – 20% declining balance 

Automotive equipment  – 30% declining balance 
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Machinery and equipment – 20% declining balance 

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period. 

Non-current investments 

Non-current investments relate to the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and are stated at 
cost less provision for any diminution in value. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
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Taxation 

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax 
currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.  

Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods 
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the statement of 
financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are not recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit. 

Leases 

At inception, the company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease within the scope 
of IFRS 16. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Where a tangible asset 
is acquired through a lease, the company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at 
the lease commencement date. Right-of-use assets are included within property, plant and 
equipment, apart from those that meet the definition of investment property. 

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the 
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date plus 
any initial direct costs and an estimate of the cost of obligations to dismantle, remove, refurbish 
or restore the underlying asset and the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives 
received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end 
of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same 
basis as those of other property, plant and equipment. The right-of-use asset is periodically 
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease 
liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are unpaid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the company's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments 
included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, and the cost of any options that the company is reasonably certain to exercise, 
such as the exercise price under a purchase option, lease payments in an optional renewal 
period, or penalties for early termination of a lease. 
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in: future lease payments arising from a change in an index 
or rate; the company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee; or the company's assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding 
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or 
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

The company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term 
leases of machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less, or for leases of low-value assets 
including IT equipment. The payments associated with these leases are recognised in profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
Share-based payments 

The Group issues equity-settled payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based 
payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant 
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is recognised immediately in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income where options have been granted with no conditions attached. Options 
granted with vesting period conditions are recognised over the vesting period. 

Fair value is measured by use of the Black-Scholes model, see note 16. The expected life used 
in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.  

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction 
cost up to the nominal value of the shares issues are allocated to share capital with any excess 
being recorded as share premium. 

Financial instruments 

Recognition and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are 
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled 
or expires. 

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified 
into the following categories: 

• amortised cost 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
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• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

In the periods presented the Group and Company do not have any financial assets categorised as 
FVOCI or FVTPL. 

The classification is determined by both: 

• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are 
presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment 
of trade receivables which is presented within other expenses. 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and 
are not designated as FVTPL): 

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and 
collect its contractual cash flows 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash 
and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial 
instruments as well as listed bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under IAS 
39. 

Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected 
credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. This replaces IAS 39’s ‘incurred loss 
model’. 

Instruments within the scope of the new requirements include loans and other debt-type 
financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, contract assets 
recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments and some financial guarantee 
contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring 
expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable 
forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 
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In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 

• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

 ‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the 
reporting date. 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected 
credit losses’ are recognised for the second category. 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of 
credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

The financial liabilities remain largely the same under IFRS 9 compared to IAS 39. Financial 
liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction 
costs unless the Group or Company designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or 
loss. 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative 
financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedging instruments). 

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are 
reported in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other 
short-term, highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of acquisition that 
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. See note 26. 

Trade payables 

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities.  

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs. 
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In 2016, the par value of ordinary shares was redenominated from £0.01 per share to nil. 
Following the redenomination, all amounts received upon issue of shares, net of issue expenses 
or commissions, have been recognised as share capital in accordance with applicable law in 
Guernsey.    
 
Equity 

Equity comprises the following: 

• “Share capital” represents the nominal value of the Company’s ordinary shares. 
• “Share premium” represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of 

consideration received for ordinary shares, net of expenses of the share issue. 
• “Share capital – nil par value” represents the gross proceeds upon issue of shares net of 

issue costs. 
• “Cumulative translation reserve” represents the differences arising from translation of the 

financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities to the presentational currency. 
• “Share based payments reserve” represents equity-settled share-based employee 

remuneration until such share options are exercised, together with the fair value of 
equity-settled warrants issued to third parties. 

• “Accumulated deficit” includes all current and prior period profits and losses. 

Employee benefits 

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is 
rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such 
as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not 
discounted. The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the 
employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating 
absences, when the absence occurs. The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is 
recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past performance. 

Operating segments 

The Group has only one reportable segment as the Directors are of the opinion that the Group is 
engaged in a single segment of business being mineral exploration. 

The entity wide disclosures are not applicable to the Group at this stage because the Group has 
no major customers or revenues and is at an exploration stage. 

For disclosures regarding geographical areas, please see note 9. 
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

Information about the estimates and judgments made by the Group to reach their conclusions 
are contained in the accounting policies and/or the notes to the financial statements, and the key 
areas are summarised below: 

• Classification of mining and exploration interests. 

• Exploration expenditure relating to a particular project will be written off until such time 
as the Board has determined that the project is viable based on a positive feasibility study 
and a decision to move into production. 

In addition, the Directors also make judgements in assessing the recoverability of the 
Company’s financial assets which consist of investments in subsidiaries, loans to subsidiaries 
and trade and other receivables. This assessment involves review of the underlying exogenous 
factors which might impact the recoverability of the Company’s financial assets. Where this 
review demonstrates evidence of potential impairment, an appropriate provision for impairment 
is made until such time that the financial asset is recovered, the Company no longer has the 
right to recover the economic benefits of an identified financial asset or a future assessment of 
the recoverability of financial assets determines that the factors causing impairment no longer 
apply and the provision for impairment is reversed. Further detail is given in the Group’s 
accounting policy for financial assets at amortised cost. 

Going concern 

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future 
development, performance and position are set out in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement on 
pages 3 to 5 and the below principal risks and uncertainties. In addition, note 23 to the 
consolidated financial statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial 
instruments; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. 
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The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis with a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The Group’s total comprehensive loss after tax for the year as at 31 
December 2019 amounted to £2,176,804.   

The Group raised £225,000 on 14 January 2020, £260,000 on 24 April 2020 and £2.8 million on 
13 July 2020. These funds, together with other potential financings, are sufficient to meet the 
planned operational expenses and working capital for a further twelve months. In addition, the 
Group will continue to evaluate all options to maximise shareholder value, including a possible 
joint venture arrangement. If the Group needs to raise further equity the Directors are confident 
that these funds can be raised from existing and new investors. 

           Since December 31, 2019, the spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local 
economies around the globe. In many countries, including Canada, businesses are being forced 
to cease or limit operations for long or indefinite periods of time. Measures taken to contain the 
spread of the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing, and closures of non-
essential services have triggered significant disruptions to businesses worldwide, resulting in an 
economic slowdown. Global stock markets have also experienced great volatility and a 
significant weakening. Governments and central banks have responded with monetary and fiscal 
interventions to stabilize economic conditions.  

         The Group has determined that these events are non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, 
the financial position and results of operations as of and for the year ended 31 December 2019 
have not been adjusted to reflect their impact. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, as well as the effectiveness of government and central bank responses, remains 
unclear at this time. It is not possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of these 
consequences, as well as their impact on the financial position and results of the Group for 
future periods. 

Covid-19 has resulted in delays to operations up and until the financing plans could be 
completed, once these were finalised exploration activities recommenced. The consolidated 
financial statements do not include adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to 
continue as a going concern. 

4. Loss from operations  
  2019 2018 
 Notes £ £ 
Loss from operations is stated after charging/(crediting):    
 
Group    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 12,121 16,490 
Auditors’ remuneration – audit services  28,796 21,000 
Share-based payment charge  16 128,243 — 
Foreign exchange gain  (2,631) (56,825) 
 
Company    
Auditors’ remuneration – audit services  14,920 14,400 
Share-based payment charge  16 128,243 — 
Foreign exchange loss  223,960 555,656 
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5. Finance income – Group 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Interest receivable on bank account 151 6,992 
 151 6,992 

6. Employees 
 2019 2018 
 Number Number 
The average monthly number of persons (excluding Directors)    
employed by the Group during the period was:   
Management and administration and operations 1 1 
 £ £ 
Staff costs (for the above persons):   
Wages and salaries 149,069 114,160 
Social security costs 4,401 6,371 
Pension costs 10,338 10,129 
 163,808 130,660 

7. Key management compensation 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Executive Directors:   
William Humphries 140,000 160,000 
Richard Prickett 40,000 60,000 
 180,000 220,000 
Non-Executive Directors:   
Helen Green 7,500 7,500 
Charles Wilkinson 10,000 10,000 
 17,500 17,500 
Total 197,500 237,500 
 

The highest paid Director received aggregate remuneration of £140,000 (2018: £160,000).  Of this, 
£30,000 remains payable at year end. 

Share options in issue to Directors are disclosed on page 20.  

8. Taxation 

The Company is taxed at the company standard rate of 0%. 

The Company’s subsidiary, Landore Resources Canada Inc., is subject to Canadian Federal tax. No tax 
has been provided in the accounts of Landore Resources Canada Inc. since there were no taxable 
profits generated by the company during the year. 

Landore Resources Canada Inc. has potential deferred tax assets of CA$13,688,000 (2018: 
CA$12,198,000) which are not recognised at the end of the year. These deferred tax assets are in 
relation to exploration expenditures which are carried forward to be utilised against future profits. 
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Landore Resources Canada Inc. also has a subsidiary, Brancote US Inc. which is subject to taxation in 
the United States. This subsidiary has estimated non-capital losses of US$14,494 (2018: US$352,869) 
which will expire between 2019 and 2020. 

8. Taxation continued 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Loss for the year (907,056) (801,595) 
Loss for the year multiplied by standard rate of Canadian corporation    
tax 26.5% (2018: 26.5%) (240,370) (212,423) 
Effect of:   
Losses not utilised in the current year 240,370 212,423 
Income tax expense — — 
 

9. Mineral properties – Group 
    Accumulated 
   Net expense expenditure at 
  1 January in the 31 December 
  2019 period 2019 
  £ £ £ 
Junior Lake  21,587,943 1,231,823 22,819,766 
Miminiska Lake  1,529,818 1,123 1,530,941 
Frond Lake  83,297 1,679 84,976 
Wottam  61,558 — 61,558 
Lessard  701,934 3,413 705,347 
Other, including Swole Lake,      
West Graham and Root Lake  75,701 3,609 79,310 
  24,040,251 1,241,647 25,281,898 

Mineral properties – Company 
   Accumulated 
  Net expense expenditure at 
 1 January in the 31 December 
 2019 period 2019 
 £ £ £ 
Junior Lake 97,314 — 97,314 
 97,314 — 97,314 
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9.1 Junior Lake 

Junior Lake is a nickel, copper, platinum group metals, iron, gold, and lithium property located 
approximately 230 kilometres north of Thunder Bay in Northern Ontario, Canada. In April 2018 the 
Ontario government converted all active, unpatented mining claims from their legally defined location 
by claim posts on the ground or by township survey to a cell-based provincial grid for the entire 
province including Landore’s mining claims (“legacy claims”). All Landore’s legacy claims have been 
converted to the new Ontario claim system and designated new claim numbers. The property now 
consists of 4 leases and 1,419 staked mining claims, wholly owned by the Group. A total of 8 legacy 
claims in the original property block are subject to a 2% net smelter return (“NSR”). The Junior Lake 
property encompasses the Lamaune property block consisting of 261 mining claims. The Junior Lake 
property also encompasses the Swole property block. 

9.2 Miminiska Lake 

Miminiska Lake is a gold exploration project located approximately 115 kilometres east of Pickle Lake 
in Northern Ontario, Canada. Following the April 2018 conversion of all claims in the province of 
Ontario, the property consists of a southern block of 28 patented and 23 staked claims (“Miminiska 
Lake”), and a northern block consisting of 570 staked claims (“Keezhik Lake”). Both blocks are 
wholly owned by the Group. 

9.3 Frond Lake 

Frond Lake is a gold property located approximately 125 kilometres east of Pickle Lake in Northern 
Ontario, Canada. The property is comprised of 24 patented claims contiguous to the east of the Wottam 
Property. The Frond Lake property claims are wholly-owned by the Group subject to a 2% NSR to the 
original owners of the property. 

9.4 Wottam 

Wottam is a gold property located approximately 120 kilometres east of Pickle Lake in Northern 
Ontario, Canada. The property is wholly owned by the Company and includes 255 claims (post April 
2018 claim conversion) contiguous and between the Miminiska and Frond properties. 

9.5 Lessard 

Lessard is a zinc and copper property comprised of 57 mining claims located approximately 107 
kilometres north of Chibougamau in Quebec, Canada. The property is wholly-owned by the Group. 

9.6 Swole Lake 

Swole Lake is host to nickel, copper, platinum group metals, and lithium occurrences. The Swole Lake 
mining claim, wholly owned by the Group, is consolidated into the greater Junior Lake property. The 
Swole Lake claim is subject to a 2% NSR to the original holder of the claim. 

9.7 West Graham 

West Graham is a nickel, copper, and platinum group metals property comprised of 1 patented claim 
wholly owned by the Company. The property is located 25 kilometres southwest of Sudbury and 1.5 
kilometres east of the Lockerby nickel mine. On November 21, 2005, First Nickel Inc. optioned the 
property from the Company. In 2010, First Nickel Inc. earned a 70% interest in the property, with a 
possibility of earning further 15% interest subject to certain conditions. In 2015, First Nickel went into 
receivership and the 70% interest was taken up by Transition Metals Corporation, and later sold to 
Sudbury Platinum Corporation. 
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10. Loss per share 

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to the equity holders of the 
parent for the financial year divided by the weighted average number of shares being 1,169,330,854 
(2018: 992,408,930) in issue during the year. 

The potential ordinary shares which arise as a result of the options in issue are not dilutive under the 
terms of IAS 33 because they would reduce the loss per share. Accordingly, there is no difference 
between the basic and dilutive loss per share. At the year end, there were 86,250,000 (2018: 
51,450,000) share options and 217,142,857 (2018: 210,000,000) warrants in issue.  Further details are 
shown in note 16. 

11. Property, plant and equipment – Group  
 Automotive Computer Machinery and Office  
 equipment hardware equipment equipment Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ 
Cost      
At 1 January 2019 130,480 32,486 118,844 18,128 299,938 
Foreign exchange movements 1,536 383 1,399 214 3,532 
At 31 December 2019 132,016 32,869 120,243 18,342 303,470 
Depreciation       
At 1 January 2019 102,732 29,771 106,259 17,428 256,190 
Charge for the year 8,550 853 2,585 133 12,121 
Foreign exchange movements 1,084 341 1,213 198 2,836 
At 31 December 2019 112,366 30,965 110,057 17,759 271,147 
Net book value      
At 31 December 2019 19,650 1,904 10,186 583 32,323 
At 31 December 2018 27,748 2,715 12,585 700 43,748 
      
 Automotive Computer Machinery and Office  
 equipment hardware equipment equipment Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ 
Cost      
At 1 January 2018 133,660 33,278 121,740 18,570 307,248 
Foreign exchange movements (3,180) (792) (2,896) (442) (7,310) 
At 31 December 2018 130,480 32,486 118,844 18,128 299,938 
Depreciation       
At 1 January 2018 92,990 29,221 105,691 17,746 245,648 
Charge for the year 12,030 1,253 3,102 105 16,490 
Foreign exchange movements (2,288) (703) (2,534) (423) (5,948) 
At 31 December 2018 102,732 29,771 106,259 17,428 256,190 
Net book value      
At 31 December 2018 27,748 2,715 12,585 700 43,748 
At 31 December 2017 40,670 4,057 16,049 824 61,600 
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12. Non-current asset investments – Company 
 Investment 
 in subsidiaries 
 £ 
Cost  
At 1 January 2018 
At 31 December 2018 
At 31 December 2019 

4,111,190 
4,111,190 
4,111,190 

Provision for diminution in value  
At 1 January 2018 
At 31 December 2018 
At 31 December 2019 

4,016,302 
4,016,302 
4,016,302 

Net book value  
At 1 January 2018 
At 31 December 2018 
At 31 December 2019 

94,888 
94,888 
94,888 

At 31 December 2019 the Company held the issued share capital of the following subsidiary 
undertakings: 

Subsidiary Nature of business Country of incorporation 

Landore Resources Canada Inc. 
(100%) 

Exploration of precious metals Canada 

Brancote US Inc.* (100%) Exploration of precious metals United States 

Lamaune Iron Inc.** (90.2%) Exploration of precious metals Canada 

*The entire share capital of Brancote US Inc. is held by Landore Resources Canada Inc. 

**90.2% of the share capital of Lamaune Iron Inc. is held by Landore Resources Canada Inc. 

 
All subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated financial statements. 

13. Trade and other receivables 
 Group Company Group Company 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
Due within one year:     
Trade receivables and prepayments 19,965 2,267 42,946 9,353 
Amount due from subsidiary — 31,502,784 — 29,884,687 
 19,965 31,505,051 42,946 29,894,040 
 
Since 2005, the Company has made loans to its subsidiary, Landore Resources Canada Inc. to fund 
ongoing exploration activities in Canada.  Such funds are provided on an unsecured, interest free basis 
and therefore the loan funding is repayable on demand of the Company.   
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The Company expects to collect the financial asset created by the loan funding through recalling the 
loan at a time when the subsidiary has realised its exploration projects.  It does not intend to trade or 
sell the debt asset.   

Therefore, the Directors have assessed that the financial asset should be recorded as an amortised cost 
asset.  The Directors therefore consider potential impairment under the expected credit losses model. 

The Directors regularly monitor the risk exposure created by the loan and do not consider that any 
material change to the risk profile of the loan across the life of the instrument.  As the Company 
controls the counterparty, its subsidiary, the Board does not consider there to be any risk in respect of a 
dispute over the existence of the debt obligation. Therefore, the Board considers the ability of the 
subsidiary to repay to be the most significant judgement in its estimation of expected credit losses. 

In assessing the ability of the subsidiary to repay, the Board considers a range of available information 
and forecast information including expenditure forecasts, progress against exploratory targets, 
economic and political developments in Canada, trends in commodity and input prices and expected 
regulatory issues, amongst other data and areas of judgement. 

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the subsidiary’s cash flow forecasts and drilling progress at 
its BAM Gold Project.  Where the Board identifies any adverse geological, technological, financial or 
political circumstances in respect of that projects it considers the impact on its expected credit loss in 
respect of the loan. 

As at 31 December 2019 the Board have critically assessed the expected recovery of its loan and 
considers that the expected credit losses in respect of that asset are nil due to the robust technical 
findings and project economics.  The Board also consider the political and economic situation in 
Canada to be stable and that risk of credit losses arising from adverse political and economic impacts 
on the project to be immaterial to the credit loss assessment. 

The Board have also considered the sensitivity of the project against key inputs and are satisfied that 
expected credit losses are not exposed to minor fluctuation in key project inputs.  The key sensitivities 
assessed include the gold price, exchange rates, operating expenditure and capital expenditure required. 

In respect of expected credit losses, there has been no change to the Board’s measurement technique in 
the period. 

Where the Board has identified factors leading to an expected credit loss, a probability-weighted 
impairment provision is raised and reviewed at each reporting period.  Where there is no reasonable 
prospect of recovery, the asset is fully impaired and written off. 

The Board consider that no credit loss allowance is required in the current period and will continually 
review the position into 2020. 

14. Trade and other payables: amounts falling due within one year 
 Group Company Group Company 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
Trade payables 269,058 85,346  103,787 64,303 
Current tax liabilities 

34,877 — 34,471 — 
 303,935 85,346 138,258 64,303 
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15. Share capital – Group and Company 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
   
Issued and fully paid:   
1,303,600,508 (2018: 1,045,915,779) ordinary shares of nil par value   
each ranking pari passu 42,915,903 41,247,016 
 

   Ordinary 
   Shares of 0p 
   2019 
   £ 
Issued:    
At 1 January 2019   41,247,016 
Issued in the year   1,820,000 
Issue costs   (151,113) 
At 31 December 2019   42,915,903 
 

The Company made allotments of no par value ordinary shares with an aggregate nominal value of £nil 
during the period as follows: 
  Nominal Share 
 Number value capital 
 of shares £ £ 
6 June 2019 – Subscription at 0.7p 142,857,143 — 1,000,000 
6 June 2019 – Settle advisor fees at 0.7p 14,285,714 — 100,000 
23 July 2019 – Subscription at 0.7p 35,714,286 — 250,000 
24 September 2019 – Subscription at 0.725p 64,827,586 — 470,000 
 257,684,729 — 1,820,000 
 

Issue costs of £151,113 (2018: £225,291) were incurred when issuing shares. 

Issue costs include £9,801 (2018: £nil), being the fair value of warrants issued to the company’s broker 
as disclosed in Note 16.2.  The warrants were recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 and constitute a 
non-cash issue cost. 

The total gross cash proceeds received from the shares issued in the year under review amounted to 
£1,720,000. 

 
Under the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 there is no longer a requirement for a company to have a 
specific authorised share capital. The Company adopted new style Articles of Incorporation on 20 June 
2013.  Clause 4.1 of the Articles refers to the Company’s unlimited share capital. 
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16. Share-based payment reserve – Group and Company 

 

16.1 Share options reserve 
        
   

Exercise 
 Number of 

options at 
  Number of 

options at 
 

  price 1 January (Lapsed)/  31 Dec Fair value 
Grant date Expiry date £ 2019 Granted (Exercised) 2019 £ 
28 October 2009 28 October 2019 0.1400 1,000,000 (1,000,000) — — — 
21 March 2014 21 March 2019 0.0217 900,000 (900,000) — — — 
21 July 2014 21 July 2019 0.03525 9,300,000 (9,300,000) — — — 
22 June 2016 22 June 2021 0.018 13,750,000 — — 13,750,000 162,922 
5 July 2017 5 July 2022 0.0319 21,500,000 — — 21,500,000 295,562 
22 December 2017 22 December 2022 0.022 5,000,000 — — 5,000,000 43,819 
24 July 2019 24 July 2024 0.00805 — 46,000,000  46,000,000 128,243 
   51,450,000 34,800,000 — 86,250,000 630,546 

During the year, the Company granted 46,000,000 options (2018: nil). 

No options were exercised during the year (2018: nil). 

11,200,000 share options lapsed in the year (2018: 17,200,000).  

All of the above options vest in full on the grant date and all 86,250,000 options were therefore 
exercisable at the year end. 

The weighted average exercise prices relating to the above movements in the number of share options 
are as follows: 

 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Outstanding at beginning of the year 0.030 0.031 
Granted during the year 0.008 — 
Exercised during the year — — 
Lapsed during the year 0.044 0.035 
Outstanding at end of the year 0.016 0.030 
Exercisable at end of the year 0.016 0.030 
Weighted average share price of share options exercised in year — — 
   
Weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding  3.47 2.63 
at end of the year   
 

 

 2019 
£ 

2018 
£ 

   
Share options reserve 630,546 726,453 
Share options reserve – warrants 9,801 — 
Total 640,347 726,453 
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The estimated fair value of the options issued during the year was calculated by applying the Black-
Scholes pricing model. 

 
The model inputs were: 

Options granted 24 July 2019 
Share price at grant date £0.00725 
Expected volatility 48.05% 
Risk-free interest rate 0.43% 
Exercise price £0.00805 
Option life 5 years 

 
The expected volatility is wholly based on the historic volatility of share prices (calculated based on 
the average life of the share options). 

 
The movements on the share options reserve are detailed below: 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Share options reserve as at 1 January  726,453 855,453 
Charge in Statement of Comprehensive Income – options issued 128,243 — 
Transfer to retained earnings -  lapsed options (224,150) (129,000) 
Share options reserve at 31 December  630,546 726,453 
 

16.2 Share options reserve – warrants  
        
Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 

(£) 
Number of 

options at 1 
January 2019 

(Lapsed)/ 
Granted 

Number of 
options at 31 

December 2019 

Fair value  
(£) 

 
4 April 2018 

 
4 April 2020 

 
0.02 

 
210,000,000 

 
— 

 
210,000,000 

 
— 

6 June 2019 6 June 2021 0.00875 — 7,142,857 7,142,857 9,801 
   210,000,000 7,142,857 217,142,857 9,801 
 

The Company granted 7,142,857 warrants during the year (2018: 210,000,000). In consideration of the 
broker’s services as part of the 6 June 2019 share placing and subscription, one warrant was issued 
with each new ordinary share with an exercise price of £0.00875 per ordinary share. 

Costs that were settled by way of the issue of warrants were directly attributable to the issue of shares 
and therefore charged against share premium in accordance with IAS 32. 

During the year ended 31 December 2019 no warrants lapsed (2018: nil). 217,142,857 warrants were in 
issue and exercisable at the year end. 
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The weighted average exercise prices relating to the movements in the number of warrants are as 
follows: 

 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Outstanding at beginning of the year 0.020 — 
Granted during the year 0.009 0.020 
Exercised during the year — — 
Lapsed during the year — — 
Outstanding at end of the year 0.020 0.020 
Exercisable at end of the year 0.020 0.020 
Weighted average remaining contractual life of warrants outstanding    
at end of the year 
Weighted average share price of warrants exercised in year 

0.299 
— 

1.259 
— 

   
The estimated fair value of the above warrants was calculated by applying the Black-Scholes pricing 
model. 

The model inputs were: 

Options granted 6 June 2019  
Share price at grant date £0.00715  
Expected volatility 46.66%  
Risk-free interest rate 0.54%  
Exercise price £0.00875  
Option life 2 years  

 

The expected volatility is wholly based on the historic volatility of share prices (calculated based on 
the average life of the share options). 

The movements on the warrant reserve are detailed below: 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Warrant reserve as at 1 January  — — 
Charge in Statement of Comprehensive Income 9,801 — 
Warrant reserve at 31 December  9,801 — 

17. Accumulated deficit 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Group   
At 1 January  
Loss for the year 

(41,432,637) 
(2,144,998) 

(38,778,911) 
(2,782,726) 

Transfer in respect of lapsed options 224,150 129,000 
At 31 December (43,353,485) (41,432,637) 
Company   
At 1 January  (11,803,172) (10,805,833) 
Loss for the year (405,534) (1,126,339) 
Transfer in respect of lapsed options 224,150 129,000 
At 31 December  (11,984,556) (11,803,172) 
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18. Cumulative translation reserve 
 Translation 
 reserve 
 £ 
Group  
At 1 January 2019 (312,633) 
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations (30,884) 
At 31 December 2019 (343,517) 

 
The translation reserve records exchange differences arising from the translation of the accounts of the 
foreign currency denominated subsidiaries, Landore Resources Canada Inc., Brancote US Inc. and 
Lamaune Iron Inc. 

19. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds – Group 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
Opening net funds 278,232 369,604 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (169,886) (91,453) 
Net funds before foreign exchange 108,346 278,151 
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (678) 81 
Closing net funds 107,668 278,232 

20. Analysis of net funds – Group 
 At    At 
 1 January Cash Exchange 31 December 
 2019 flow loss 2019 
 £ £ £ £ 
Cash and cash equivalents 278,232 (169,886) (678) 107,668 
Total 278,232 (169,886) (678) 107,668 

21. Related party transactions 
Advances were received by Landore Resources Canada Inc. from Landore Resources Limited. These 
were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.  Amounts due from subsidiary 
undertakings are presented in note 13. 

Helen Green, a Director of the Company, is also a Director of Saffery Champness Management 
International Limited (“SCMIL”) and Rysaffe International Services Limited (“Rysaffe”). SCMIL 
were paid £66,133 (2018: £85,268) in the period in respect of its role as administrators for the 
Company and Rysaffe was paid £10,000 (2018: £10,000) in respect of its role as Company Secretary. 
An amount of £11,217 (2018: £16,530) was owing to SCMIL at the year-end and the amount owing to 
Rysaffe was £nil (2018: £nil). All transactions are at market value. 

For key management compensation see note 7. The Group does not have any single ultimate 
controlling party. In addition, the Directors are reimbursed authorised travel expenses, office costs and 
sundry items amounting to £47,891 (£2018: £45,474) incurred on the Group’s behalf.   
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22.  Non-controlling interest 

The Group recognises non-controlling interests in an acquired entity either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. This decision is 
made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. For the non-controlling interests in Lamaune Iron Inc., the 
Group elected to recognise the non-controlling interest at its proportionate share of the acquired net 
identifiable assets. The non-controlling interest recorded at year end was £(3,227) (2018: £(2,305)).  
 
23. Financial instruments/Financial risk management 

In the course of its business, the Group is exposed primarily to liquidity risk. As the Company grows it 
is expected that capital management risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and interest 
rate risk will also become focuses of the Group’s financial risk management policies. 

Capital management risk 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to 
provide adequate resources to fund its exploration activities with a view to providing returns to its 
investors and to maintain sufficient financial resources to mitigate against risk and unforeseen events. 

The Company meets its capital needs by equity financing. The Group sets the amount of capital it 
requires in proportion to risk. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in 
the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. 

The objectives will be achieved by maintaining and adding value to existing extraction projects and 
identifying new exploration projects, adding value to these projects and ultimately taking them through 
to production and cash flow, either with partners or by the Group’s means. 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity less cash and cash 
equivalents as presented on the face of the statement of financial position. Capital for the reporting 
periods under review is summarised in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e. equity and 
financial liabilities. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of 
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders in the future, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Group attempts to accurately forecast the cash flow requirements of its ongoing operations 
and ensures that it has sufficient funding in place to meet these needs. The Group currently uses equity 
finance as its main source of funding. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due within the current operating period. 
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Foreign currency risk 

The Group primarily operates in Canada but reports its financial results in GBP Sterling. It manages 
the potential exposure to fluctuations in the GBP Sterling to Canadian Dollar exchange rate by holding 
its main asset, being its cash reserves, in GBP Sterling. Cash is converted to Canadian Dollars to meet 
the expenditure requirements of its Canadian business only when required. Currently, the Group’s net 
asset position is not significantly impacted by movements in the exchange rate.  

As the Group remains a development phase entity it only has small and infrequent foreign currency 
transaction exposures. 

In addition, the market for metals is principally denominated in United States dollars. As the Group has 
not reached production stage it does not currently engage in active hedging to minimise exchange rate 
risk, although this will remain under review. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its financing 
activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and 
other financial instruments. The Group does not hold collateral as security. 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Board. Investments 
of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each 
counterparty. 

Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. The limits are set to minimise 
the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty failure. 

No material exposure is considered to exist by virtue of the possible non-performance of the 
counterparties to financial instruments. 

The on-going global financial situation is being monitored by the Board but is not affecting the 
Company at present. 

Interest rate risk 

As the Group does not currently have any borrowings it is not exposed to interest rate fluctuations. 

The Group and Company held the following financial assets and liabilities: 

 Group Company Group Company 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
Financial assets     
Trade and other receivables — 31,505,051 — 29,894,040 
Investment in subsidiaries — 94,888 — 94,888 
     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables 303,935 85,346 138,258 64,303 
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24. Commitments 
Lease commitments 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant contractual obligations (2018: none). 

Contractual commitments 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant contractual obligations (2018: none). 

25. Administrative expenses 
 Group Company Group Company 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
Administrative expenses 407,843 172,908 341,658 226,956 
Directors fees 197,500 197,500 237,500 237,500 
Legal, accountancy and audit expenses 170,838 130,994 165,612 113,219 
Share-based payments expense 128,243 128,243 — — 
 904,424 629,645 744,770 577,675 

26. Cash and cash equivalents  
 Group Company Group Company 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
Cash at bank  107,668 57,101 277,458 245,672 
Short term deposits  — — — — 
 107,668 57,101 277,458 245,672 
 

27. Subsequent events 

Funding 

The Company announced on 14 January 2020 that it raised gross proceeds of £225,000 through a 
placing and subscription of 32,142,857 new Ordinary Shares at a price of 0.7p per share. 

Bill Humphries, CEO of Landore Resources, and James Hudleston, a substantial shareholder of the 
Company, subscribed for 14,285,714 of the shares.  

On 24 April 2020 the Company announced that it had raised gross proceeds of £260,000 through a 
subscription for 38,518,519 new Ordinary Shares at a price of 0.675p per share.  Each new ordinary 
share carries a warrant exercisable for 1 penny for 24 months from the subscription date. 

Bill Humphries, CEO of Landore Resources, and James Hudleston, a substantial shareholder of the 
Company, subscribed for 9,629,630 of the shares. 

On 29 June 2020 the Company announced that it had conditionally raised £2.8 million by the issuance 
of 414,814,815 shares at 0.675p per share, this was approved by shareholders on 13 July 2020 and in 
addition 414,814,815 warrants, with a strike price of 1p were issued, expiring on 13 July 2022. 
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Board changes and issue of equity 

The Company announced on 7 February 2020 that Richard Prickett has resigned as a Director of the 
Company, and all associated subsidiaries, with immediate effect due to personal and family 
commitments. 

Glenn Featherby, who was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 17 January 
2020, has agreed to take on the role of Finance Director with immediate effect. In order to facilitate an 
orderly handover, Richard has agreed to act as a consultant for the Company on an ad hoc basis. 

As part of his compensation for loss of office and in recognition of his long service to the Company, 
the Company issued Mr Prickett with 10 million new ordinary shares in the Company on 13 February 
2020. 

Covid-19 

Since 31 December 2019, the spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many economies around the 
globe. In many countries, including Canada, businesses are being forced to cease or limit operations for 
long or indefinite periods of time. Measures taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel 
bans, quarantines, social distancing, and closures of non-essential services have triggered significant 
disruptions to businesses worldwide, resulting in an economic slowdown. Global stock markets have 
also experienced great volatility and a significant weakening. Governments and central banks have 
responded with monetary and fiscal interventions to stabilize economic conditions.  

The Group has determined that these events are non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, the 
financial position and results of operations as of and for the year ended 31 December 2019 have not 
been adjusted to reflect their impact. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as 
the effectiveness of government and central bank responses, remains unclear at this time. It is not 
possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of these consequences, as well as their impact on 
the financial position and results of the Group in the future. 
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 Notice of Annual General Meeting 

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Landore Resources Limited (the 
“Company”) will be held at La Tonnelle House, Les Banques, St Sampson, Guernsey GY1 3HS on 20 
August 2020 at 11.30 am at which the following resolutions will be proposed, in the case of resolutions 
1 to 4 as Ordinary Resolutions and in the case of resolutions 5 and 6 as Special Resolutions: 

Ordinary Business 

1. to receive and adopt the statement of accounts and the statement of financial position of the 
Company with the report of the Directors and the auditor’s report for the year ended 31 
December 2019; 

2. to re-elect Charles Wilkinson who retires in accordance with Article 19.12 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company (the “Articles”); 

3. to re-elect Helen Green who retires in accordance with Article 19.12 of the Articles; 

4.        to elect Glenn Featherby as a Director. 

5. to re-appoint Grant Thornton Limited as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the 
next Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration; 

 

Special Business 

6.  that in substitution for all previous authorities which are hereby revoked, the Directors be and 
they are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of Article 5.1 of the  
Articles to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot up to a maximum amount of 
300,000,000 relevant securities provided that this authority shall expire five years from the date 
of this resolution and that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement 
which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and the 
Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement notwithstanding 
that the authority conferred hereby has expired and in this resolution the expression “relevant 
securities” and references to the allotment of relevant securities shall bear the same respective 
meanings as in the Articles ; 

7. that in substitution for all previous authorities which are hereby revoked, the Directors be and 
they are hereby empowered pursuant to Article 6.8 of the Articles to allot equity securities for 
cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the previous resolution as if Article 6.1 of the  
Articles did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to the 
allotment of equity securities: 

(a) in connection with an offer of such securities by way of rights to holders of ordinary 
shares in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their respective holdings of such 
shares, but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem 
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or any legal or practical 
problems under the laws of any territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body or 
stock exchange; and 

(b) otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above up to maximum aggregate amount of 
300,000,000 equity securities; 
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provided that this authority shall expire five years from the date of this resolution and that the 
Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in 
pursuance of such offer or agreement notwithstanding that the authority conferred hereby has 
expired and in this resolution the expression “equity securities” and references to the allotment 
of equity securities shall bear the same respective meanings as in the Articles. 

By Order of the Board 

Director of Rysaffe International Services Limited 

as Secretary to Landore Resources Limited 

23 July 2020 

IMPORTANT NOTICE RE COVID-19 
In light of the requirement for persons arriving in the Bailiwick of Guernsey from anywhere in the 
world to self-isolate for 14 days on arrival pursuant to restrictions imposed by the Medical Officer of 
Health in Guernsey under the Emergency Powers (Coronavirus) (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Regulations 
2020 (the "Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions"), the Company strongly encourages all Shareholders 
to submit their Form of Proxy, appointing the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting as proxy. 
Only the formal business of the Resolutions will be carried out at the meeting and no update will be 
provided. The Annual General Meeting has been arranged on the assumption that the Guernsey 
Quarantine Restrictions will continue to apply at the date of the Annual General Meeting. Unless 
notified otherwise after publication of the Notice of Annual General Meeting, no Shareholder, proxy 
or corporate representative who is not residing in Guernsey at such date should attend the Annual 
General Meeting in person, as doing so may be in breach of the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions. 
The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may exercise his powers to exclude any person who 
has arrived in Guernsey within a period prior to the date of the Annual General Meeting which is 
shorter than the quarantine period specified in the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions and who 
attempts to attend the Annual General Meeting, and they may not be permitted entry to the location 
of the Annual General Meeting. The situation regarding COVID-19 is constantly evolving, and the 
Government of Guernsey may change current restrictions or implement further measures relating to 
the holding of general meetings during the affected period. Any changes to the Annual General 
Meeting (including any change to the location of the Annual General Meeting) will be communicated 
to Shareholders before the meeting through our website at https://www.landore.com/index.php 
and, where appropriate, by announcement made by the Company to a Regulatory Information 
Service. It is suggested that Shareholders consult www.covid19.gov.gg for updates closer to the 
date of the meeting. 

Notes 
 

1. Shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies to vote in their 
place. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.  

2  Return of a Form of Proxy will not, in and of itself, preclude a member from attending this 
general meeting and voting in person. However, pursuant to the Guernsey Quarantine 
Restrictions persons arriving in Guernsey from anywhere in the world are required to self-isolate 
for the specified period. The Annual General Meeting has been arranged on the assumption that 
the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions continue to apply at the date of the Annual General 
Meeting. As a result, the Annual General Meeting is expected to be held in a format different to 

https://www.landore.com/index.php
http://www.covid19.gov.gg/
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that of previous meetings, while still allowing for Shareholders to exercise their voting rights. 
No Shareholder, proxy or corporate representative who is not residing in Guernsey at the date of 
this Circular should attend the Annual General Meeting in person, as doing so may be in breach 
of the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions. If the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions continue to 
apply on the date of the Annual General Meeting, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting 
may exercise his powers to exclude any person who has arrived in Guernsey within a period 
prior to the date of the Annual General Meeting which is shorter than the quarantine period 
specified in the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions and who attempts to attend the Annual 
General Meeting, and they may not be permitted entry to the location of the Annual General 
Meeting. It is suggested that Shareholders consult www.covid19.gov.gg for updates closer to the 
date of the meeting. 

3  Shareholders may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise 
rights attached to different shares. Shareholders may not appoint more than one proxy to 
exercise rights attached to any one share. Shareholders should contact the Company's Registrar 
Agents, Computershare Investor Services (Guernsey) Limited, if they wish to appoint more than 
one proxy or they should photocopy the Form of Proxy.  

4   A vote withheld option is provided on the Form of Proxy to enable you to instruct your proxy 
not to vote on the resolution. However, it should be noted that a vote withheld in this way is not 
a "vote" in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the votes "For" and "Against" such 
resolution.  

5  A Form of Proxy is enclosed with this document, and members who wish to use it should see 
that it is deposited, duly completed, with the Company's Registrar Agents, Computershare 
Investor Services (Guernsey) Limited, c/o The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZY 
by no later than 11.30am on 18 August 2020. In light of the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions 
which are expected to remain in force at the time of the Annual General Meeting, the Company 
strongly encourages all Shareholders to submit their Form of Proxy, appointing the Chairman of 
the Annual General Meeting as proxy. 

6  Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities (Guernsey) Regulations 2009 (SI 
2009 No. 48), as amended, the Company specifies that only those shareholders registered in the 
register of members of the Company as at close of business on 18 August 2020 shall be entitled 
to vote at the aforesaid meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at 
that time. Changes to entries on the register of members after close of business on 18 August 
2020 shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to vote at the meeting.  

7  CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy 
appointment service may do so for the meeting and any adjournment(s) of it by using the 
procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members, sponsored CREST 
members and CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s) should refer to 
their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) who will be able to take the appropriate 
action for them.  

To complete a valid proxy appointment or instruction using the CREST service, the CREST 
message (a "CREST Proxy Instruction") must be properly authenticated in accordance with 
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited's specifications and must contain the information required for 
such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it 
constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previously 
appointed proxy must in order to be valid, be transmitted and received by Company's Registrar 
Agents, Computershare Investor Services (Guernsey) Limited (ID number 3RA50) by 11.30am 
on 18 August 2020. The time of receipt of the instruction will be the time (as determined by the 
timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which Computershare 
Investor Services (Guernsey) Limited is able to retrieve the message by enquiry proxies 
appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.  
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CREST members and, where applicable, CREST sponsors or voting service providers should 
note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in 
CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will apply to the 
input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to 
take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has 
appointed a voting service provider(s) to ensure that his CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s) take(s) the necessary action to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the 
CREST system by a particular time. CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST 
sponsors or voting service provider(s) should refer to the sections of the CREST Manual 
concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.  

The Company may treat a CREST Proxy Instruction as invalid as set out in Regulation 34(1) of 
the CREST Regulations 2001.  

8  As at 6.00 p.m. on the date immediately prior to this notice, the Company's issued share capital 
comprised 1,799,076,699 ordinary shares. Each ordinary share carries the right to one vote at a 
general meeting of the Company and therefore the total number of voting rights in the Company 
as at 6.00 p.m. on the date immediately prior to this notice was 1,799,076,699. 
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Form of Proxy 
Landore Resources Limited 

Annual General Meeting 
 

I/We  ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................  

of  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................  

 .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................  
being (a) member(s) of Landore Resources Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint 

 .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................  
failing whom, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Shareholders of the Company to be held at La Tonnelle House, Les Banques, St Sampson, Guernsey, GY1 
3HS on 20 August 2020 at 11.30 am and at any adjournment thereof and to vote thereat as indicated below. 

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate space how you wish your votes to be cast: 
 

Ordinary Business For Against 
1.  Ordinary Resolution to receive and adopt the accounts for the year ended 

31 December 2019   

2.  Ordinary Resolution to re-elect Charles Wilkinson   
3.  Ordinary Resolution to re-elect Helen Green   

4.  Ordinary Resolution to elect Glenn Featherby   

5. to re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditors   
Special Business   

   
6.  Special Resolution to authorise the Directors to allot relevant securities   
7.  Special Resolution to authorise the Directors to disapply pre-emption rights in relation  

to the allotments of equity securities 
  

 
 

Date:  .......................................................................  Signature(s) or common seal:  ......................................................................  
Notes: 
1. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
2 If you do not indicate how you wish your proxy to use your vote in a particular matter, the proxy will exercise his/her discretion as to how 

he/she votes and as to whether or not he/she abstains from voting. 
3. In the case of a corporation this Form of Proxy must be executed under seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised in 

writing. 
4. Forms of Proxy, to be valid, must be signed and must be lodged, together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under 

which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of such power or authority, to the registrar’s agents, Computershare Investor Services 
(Guernsey) Limited, c/o The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZY by 11.30 am on 18 August 2020. 

5. In the case of joint holders, the signature of any one of them will suffice, but if a holder other than the first-named holder signs, it will 
help the Registrars if the name of the first-named holder is given. 

6. Any alteration to this Form of Proxy must be initialled. 
7. Return of a Form of Proxy will not, in and of itself, preclude a member from attending this general meeting and voting in person. 

However, pursuant restrictions imposed by the Medical Officer of Health in Guernsey under the Emergency Powers (Coronavirus) 
(Bailiwick of Guernsey) Regulations 2020 (the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions) persons arriving in the Bailiwick of Guernsey from 
anywhere in the world are required to self-isolate for 14 days on arrival. The Annual General Meeting has been arranged on the 
assumption that the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions continue to apply at the date of the Annual General Meeting. As a result, the 
Annual General Meeting is expected to be held in a format different to that of previous meetings, while still allowing for Shareholders to 
exercise their voting rights. No Shareholder, proxy or corporate representative who is not residing in Guernsey at the date of the Circular 
enclosing this Form of Proxy should attend the Annual General Meeting in person, as doing so may be in breach of the Guernsey 
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Quarantine Restrictions. If the Guernsey Quarantine Restrictions continue to apply on the date of the Annual General Meeting, the 
Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may exercise his powers to exclude any person who has arrived in Guernsey within a period 
prior to the date of the Annual General Meeting which is shorter than the quarantine period specified in the Guernsey Quarantine 
Restrictions and who attempts to attend the Annual General Meeting, and they may not be permitted entry to the location of the Annual 
General Meeting. It is suggested that Shareholders consult www.covid19.gov.gg for updates closer to the date of the meeting 

8. CREST members should use the CREST electronic proxy appointment service and refer to Note 7 of the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting in relation to the submission of a proxy appointment via CREST. CREST voting cut off will be 11.30a.m. on 18 August 2020. 

9. Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities (Guernsey) Regulations 2009 (SI 2009 No. 48), as amended, entitlement to 
attend and vote at the meeting and the number of votes which may be cast thereat will be determined by reference to the Register of 
Members of the Company at 11.30a.m. on 18 August 2020. Changes to entries on the Register of Members after that time shall be 
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to vote.  
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